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GENERAL COM M ITIEE �*1t 

REPORT OF THE GENERAL COMMITTEE i!�1f¥1Hs· 
(For the year ended 31 December, 2005 ilt$ 2005 IF 12 fJ 31 E!J.t:i'fl!l) 

The General Committee has pleasure in presenting its report 
together with the financial statements for the year ended 31'1 

December, 2005. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
The role of the Chamber is to promote, represent and safeguard 
the interests of the Hong Kong business community. 

ACCOUNTS 
The state of the Chamber's affairs at 31 '1 December, 2005 and 
the result for the year ended are set out in the financial statements 
on pages 64-80. 

ASSETS 
Details of the movements in assets are shown in notes 4-1 0 to 
the financial statements. 

GENERAL COMMITTEE MEMBERS 
The General Committee Members who held office during the year 
are set out on pages 8 and 9. No Member of the General Committee, 
or any other Members of the Chamber, received any form of 
remuneration in return for their services, other than normal 
professional or similar fees paid for services or supplies rendered to 
the Chamber and no portion of the income or property of the 
Chamber was paid or transferred directly or indirectly by way of 
dividend, bonus or otherwise to Members of the Chamber. 

INTEREST IN CONTRACTS 
No contract of significance to which the Chamber was a party and in 
which a General Committee Member had a material interest subsisted 
at the end of the year nor at any time during the year. 

AUDITORS 
A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the 
Chamber is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting. 

By Order of the General Committee, 

David Eldon 

Chairman 

on 28 March, 2006 
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Committee meetings 

Seminars/training 

Fellowship events 

Outbound trips/missions 

Incoming business delegations/ 

Business matching 

Trade documents issued 

Chamber Press releases issued 

185 
42 
23 

155 

634,402 
29 



3 



S NAPSHOT 

4 Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce Annual Report 2005 



�flf-i.,.i.tt 

fiJf M 11/ ±tf ��� ffi 
�.iti:i!Ji!J 
9� Wi �lit/�� Ill 
a��� / ifii �mc�:t� 

��3t1HH� (�) 
:M 9� �iUUJT fill fr-l ( �) 
tt*JT ruJ � u :±l !Jl �� lJ( 

185 

42 

23 

155 

634,402 

Hong Koo� Gcncr-.1.1 (.haml><r cf \<lmnlc::rtc 
'!!< •t• ..:>.,trrQ-1861 

Q 
·�'tJ(OJ ..... ,. 

t; •••• �.::;:.:..';;'::= 

5 



S NAPS HOT 

Welcomes 

General Colin Powell, USA (Ret.) Former United States Secretary of State 
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Since being elected as Chairman in April 2005, I have 
come to realize what a job it is to keep up with all the 
Chamber activities during a twelve-month cycle. Every 
month creates new opportunities to meet people from 
all walks of life and sectors of business at Chamber 
events, and to hear their views. 

Hong Kong had a very eventful 2005, not least of which 
was the experience of having three Chief Executives -
Tung Chee-hwa, Henry Tang Ying-yen (albeit, acting) and 
Donald Tsang Yam-kuen -and two Policy Addresses all 
in the same year! it is a testimony to our institutions and 
our deepening political maturity that this unusual 
transition proceeded without any disruption to our 
excellent government services. Indeed, hosting the 6th 
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World Trade Organization Ministerial Conference (MC6) 
in December had a greater impact on most people's 
lives than did the year's political adjustments. 

On policy matters there may have been a slight pause 
early in the year as senior officials settled into their new 
roles, but certainly no change of direction. 
We expect that the key issues such as public sector 
reform, expanded public-private partnership, tackling our 
ever-worsening air quality, broadening the tax base and 
passing the long-overdue anti-racial discrimination law 
will return to the top of the agenda in 2006. 

The expiration of the global textile quota system at the 
end of 2004 resulted in a highly predictable surge of 
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CHAIRMAN'S REVIEW 

exports from China to major markets in the U.S. and 
Europe. The equally predictable protectionist response 
was the subject of no less than six roundtables during 
the year, as well as a seminar on strategies for dealing 
with anti-dumping investigations. 

And while on the subject of trade, more parochially, your 
Chamber remained an active lobbyist on your behalf for 
further expansion of the Closer Economic Partnership 
Arrangement (CEPA) with the Mainland of China. After 
soliciting views from a wide range of member 
companies, we submitted a 20-page 'wish list' to 
government. I should also note that one of the key items 
on our previous lists - renminbi bank accounts in Hong 
Kong - has been realized. 

Michalis Rokas from the Office of the European 
Commission in Hong Kong, presented the views of 
the EU on issues regarding textile trade between 
the members of the European Union and China. 
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The year under review was an active one for your 
Chamber, and a prosperous year for Hong Kong. The 
SAR has some 30,000 more companies in 2005 than in 
2004; many of whom we hope will join the Chamber. 
Tourism arrivals reached a new record high as 23.35 

million people visited our city, more than half of them 
from the Mainland of China. Nearly 1 00,000 new jobs 
were created, which helped to reduce under- and 
unemployment by over 55,000. 

Our stock market capitalization topped the 
US$1 trillion level in 2005, moving us into eighth place 

worldwide. We helped companies raise a record HK$192 
billion in initial public offerings, double the 2004 level 
and 45% higher than the previous record high set in 
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2000. More than 60% of the funds raised through IPOs 
were for Mainland companies. 

Impressively, this string of records was set during a year 
of uncertainty. Aside from the political hiccups that 
I mentioned earlier, oil prices were up more than 35% 
in 2005, after a 33% rise the previous year. Too, the 
monetary authorities in Beijing made the first adjustment 
to their exchange rate regime since the mid-1 990s, 
initially raising the value of the renminbi by 2. 1 Ofo vis-a-vis 
the US-dollar. Yet our city prospered, in part because we 
are extremely efficient. 

December saw Hong Kong host, with some trepidation, 
the Sixth Ministerial Conference of the World Trade 
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Organization. While we firmly believe in the principles of 

free trade, WTO meetings have been met with violent 
protests elsewhere, and so it wasn't surprising that the 

gathering in Hong Kong was accompanied by clashes 
between protesters and police. While few of us would 
sympathize with such violent means to an end, we 
certainly can be proud that the Hong Kong Police came 
away with their well-deserved reputation for discipline 
and fair play firmly intact. 

Hong Kong was also the site for the Pacific Basin 

Economic Council's 38th International General Meeting. 
As PBEC Chairman, I had a firsthand view of how the 

Chamber - which also served as the PBEC Secretariat -
manages major events, and it is very impressive. 
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Anti-WTO protesters 
took to the streets, 
while inside the 
venue the Chamber 
worked hard to 
present the business 
sector's wishes. 
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On the policy front, your Chamber was parttcularly active 
in the environmental field. Together with the 
Hong Kong Business Coalition on the Environment, 
the Greater Pearl River Delta Business Council, and 
related organizations from across the boundary, the 
Chamber launched the landmark Clean Air Charter in 
September. This Charter is part of Project Clean Air 
which comprises a number of initiatives to encourage 
enterprises to audit, monitor and take action to control 
their own environmental impact. In fact I sometimes 
wonder whether we should not be encouraging our 
own Hong Kong businesses that operate across the 
boundary to lead by example in emission controls 
from their factories, and open themselves up to 
independent inspection. 
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Two years after SARS, we now have avian flu high on the 
list of cross-border and global concerns. Or Leung Pak 
Yin, Controller for Health Protection of the Department 
of Health, briefed members in November on the dangers 
of and - more importantly - measures to control avian 
f lu. International business, the environment, cross-border 
infectious disease and cutting-edge thinking from the 
world's opinion leaders remain on the Chamber's 
agenda for the coming year, and you may expect to hear 
much more about all of these issues. 

Financially, we have continued to do well, as you will see 
from the data provided elsewhere in this Annual Report. 
Our financial independence allows us to undertake 
projects on other than a for-profit basts, and in doing so 

� The Chamber's Clean Air Day held on November 20 attracted 
widespread public support. 
**lr.11 FI208alltti'JfiJJii!Ul8JiH1J!ll*rlitH:� • 

.A. Or leung Pak Yin, Controller for Health Protection of the Department 
of Health, explained to members at a Chamber Government at Work 
Series roundtable luncheon what the government's action plan will 
be if avian flu breaks out in Hong Kong. 
��-���3�6����-•�w�••��•••ru+��� 
• · �•AQ�--��•ms�����3��m�· 

.7MaWR·�·-�-��A±��A��ffl� 

am��•o��·&ma�•••�����•• 

B�M±-I����-*fti�oft�-��� 

•·•�����ffi�m��··�&&���*e 

1-U� - 'f.fj�(�-)l:fJ��t.il�IJ�;f;f{lt��-3&� . ft!?. 
�-�ft&·ffl�ft�-�·����0 

&�-��-�--���-·��£&�-·� 

�-���--�oft!?.�����·-*ftftM• 

�1JH-' . :ilt�A� 0 



serve the community in which we live. The Hong Kong 

Good Citizen Award, which the Chamber has been the 

sole sponsor of since it was established in 1 973, is but 

one example of how your membership helps us all. 

Making a difference takes more than just money; it takes 

a lot of work by a lot of people. And so, I would like to 

take this opportunity to personally thank Or Lily Chiang, 

our Deputy Chairman, for her tireless work on behalf of 

your Chamber. Vice Chairmen Andrew Brandler, 

KK Yeung and Anthony Wu, and our Legislative Council 

Representative in the Commercial (First) functional 

constituency Jeffery Lam also deserve recognition for 

their roles in our success. 

1 would also like to thank the many members of our 

Chamber committees, and particularly the Chairmen and 

Vice Chairmen of those committees. Through their deeply 

appreciated hard work, they provide the substance, the 

experience, and the input that the Chamber needs. 

Finally, 1 would like to express my thanks and gratitude 

to the Chamber CEO, Dr Eden Woon, and his staff for 

their contribution during the year. Each of them 

contributed greatly - through good ideas and hard work 

- to making the Chamber's voice in our community a 

very prominent one. To my fellow members, I would like 
to thank you for participating in our Chamber events, 
and to extend an open invitation to provide to the 
Chamber secretariat your thoughts. 
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And before I close, a special word of thanks to our 
outgoing CEO, who informed the General Committee 
towards the end of 2005 of his intention to leave the 
Chamber at the end of April 2006. Eden came to us a 
little over eight years ago and very quickly established 
himself as a leader, and one who does so by example. 
I can tell you that he has made the lives of successive 
Chairmen of the Chamber a lot easier by his untiring 
commitment to the Chamber, and has ensured on 
behalf of all its members that the Chamber is very often 
the first port of call for government officials, local and 
foreign business people, and the many missions that 
come through Hong Kong, seeking advice, comment or 
direction. I am sure you will all join me in wishing him 
well as he moves into the commercial world. 

Lastly, I wish you all every success in your business in 
2006, and to Hong Kong in the years ahead. 

David Eldon 
Chairman 
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All of you who have been in Hong Kong since 1997 

know that the years since the handover have been like a 

roller-coaster in Hong Kong. We saw the deep 

depression of the Asian Financial Crisis rising to the 

optimism of economic recovery in 2004, and then to the 

euphoria of a bustling economy in 2005. In fact, 

economists tell us that having two such years of back-to­

back economic prosperity is so rare in Hong Kong that 

we have to go back to the 1980s to find a similar stretch 

of boom. 

As a result, the Hong Kong General Chamber of 

commerce also had a second straight year of excellent 

financial health, while trying to adjust its services to help 

members in a time of better business conditions. 
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In 2005, we basically put the majority of our efforts in 
five areas: 

1 . We tried very hard to improve our business 
assistance capability for members. The Members 
Helpline was improved, with answers required to be 
given by our staff to callers within two working days. 
Every month, we logged about 120 phone calls from 
members with questions large or small. In addition, our 
China Economist fielded four or five telephone calls per 
week on business problems in  China. Our Chief 
Economist helped our members understand the 
economic conditions, current and future, and explained 
to foreign investors and journalists the investment 
environment in Hong Kong. We also arranged dozens of 

1. am�:tJae�m���-m�•o r•�� 

mAAaJ�B�&·M�*·*��*�ilfi@I* 

:JZ:pg��i'J21'-ff�� %'m o ft1r�w fl-¥��J1U�12o 

1�• � *'� · *F"9*-*-'J,,J,a';Jft_mr.,9m o 21'-fllfll=j:t 

��-�--�-��4· 5@��pg�lfft�m 

ttJ•�*�·ft�ttJm��-�MmMe�aM§ 

MfD***�iJ1!lff3� · jtrtJ9�±1BftW.fD1W9lfl'�BWil! 
(fj�····�1f:ft��-7�@-·��··· 

·-M��ttJftB�Gif"W·M�-�pg���* 

The Chamber worked 
hard to improve our 
business assistance to 
members by organizing 
more business 
matching meetings, as 
well as expanded our 
fellowship events. 
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b usiness-matching seminars for our members with 
visiting delegations, providing members the opportunity 

to connect with trade prospects from the Mainland or 
overseas. Finally, in July, we took over as the Secretariat 
of the Hong Kong-Mainland Joint Business Liaison 
Committee, which was formed five years ago to resolve 
business disputes encountered by our members in the 
Mainland. The SME members of the Chamber especially 
appreciated our efforts to raise our capabilities in the 
business assistance area. 

2. We placed a great deal of emphasis on the 
environment in 2005. In June, we launched "Project 
Clean Air," starting with a Clean Air Charter which we 
circulated for member companies to sign, and was also 
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endorsed by our Guangdong counterpart. This project is 
supported by many associations around town, with our 

Chamber being the secretariat. It was also mentioned by 

the SAR Government in its discussions with Guangdong 
Province. We organized a Clean Air Day in the fall to 
raise the awareness of how to lessen air pollution. And, 
throughout the life of the project, funded by several 
members very much concerned about air quality in  
Hong Kong, we are educating the public and lobbying 
SAR and Mainland officials on the "crisis" nature of the 

air pollution prob lem in Hong Kong. In addition, we 
started a series of seminars on our harbour, a treasure of 
Hong Kong which sadly is falling victim to irregular 
planning and use. Our air, our water, and our harbour, 
and in turn, our quality of life are under siege, thereby 
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d ·ng Hong Kong's competitiveness, something that 
re UCI 
the Chamber is very concerned about 

• In the latter part of 2005, we swung into full gear on 
), 

WTO work. we started with the education phase by 

·21·ng a series of workshops informing members what 
organ I 
is at stake in the Doha Round WfO negotiations. We also 

l·n constant contact with the SAR Government to were 
present the business community's "wishes" regarding the 

Ministerial talks held in Hong Kong 1n December 2005. 

our coalition of Service Industries can safely be called 

THE expert on WfO in the Hong Kong business 

community, and for many years in the past it had been 

registered as the only business NGO at the wro 

MinisteriaL In the case of the Hong Kong conference, we 
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were in the halls every day and every hour, pressing our 
concerns to delegates and reporting to members via the 
media and via our Website. We like to believe that we 
had a small role in nudging the talks to a successful 
conclusion, with which the Chamber was very pleased. 

4. In order for Hong Kong to be competitive, and in 
order for the Chamber to be useful, international 
connections are very important We received over 1 50 
delegations during the year in review from overseas, and 
we sent several missions outbound, with Dubai & 
Tehran, and Singapore & Malaysia being our major trade 
mission destinations in 2005. The first half of 2005 saw 
the Chamber preoccupied with putting together a major 
international business conference - The 38th 

Members find ihe Chamber's study missions to 
China very useful. 
*AI�•**M��·�-���·w•�· 

4. •�••��••w•���•�•ffl•* 

�· �����••�m�oo�I�·��ft�• 

�·1 50�{19J)fij9�1imlll · �$��i£Hiff:fll���r.ll 
�&��-��*�����·-�-·��* 

··�*���--@�����*��--�· 

·--�38®*�����-�-*�·�*· 

��•o»-sl J*���wsoo�;gaw�Mlt±:l�. * 

·-��54;g·���AffiQ·'i����;g� 

•a•wrn�A•·����-��•�± · �* 

��-��--&��M��-�--�···· 

���-m�••·�A��••·�•-�•� 

2 1  



CEO'S REPORT 

International General Meeting of the Pacific Basin 
Economic Council. Over 500 business leaders attended 
from both sides of the Pacific Ocean, with numerous 
government leaders, as well as business speakers, 
coming to address them. In total, we had 54 speakers 
at this two-day conference. Madam Wu Yi, Vice Premier 
of China, and Dato' Sen Abdullah Ahmad Badawi, the 
Prime Minister of Malaysia, were the headliners. Former 
U.S. Secretary of State General Colin Powell also 
addressed the group. In-depth seminars explored topics 
from environment to disasters to corporate governance 
to China business. it was a complex conference for the 
Chamber to run, but the result was very useful 
information to members and exposure of Hong Kong to 
an international business audience. 
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5. We cannot be a business association in Hong Kong 
without having significant China relations. We kicked off 
the year with a large delegation to the Northeast of 
China: Heilongjiang, Jilin, and Liaoning Provinces. Late 
in 2004, the Central Liaison Office (CLO) came to us 
and asked us to eo-organize a delegation to that region 
w1th the Hong Kong Chinese Enterprises Association 
(HKCEA). Thirty of our members joined thirty members 
from the HKCEA and went for one week under the 
guidance of Madam Guo Li, Vice Director of the CLO. 
To this date, I still find delegates with business deals 
coming out of that very useful visit. Throughout the 
year, we had visits to the Pearl River Delta and to 
Sichuan for the 9+2 meetings, and we organized a Pearl 
River Delta conference in Guangzhou. Two visits to 
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seijing were made - one by the China Committee to 

discuss technical China business issues and the other, a 

high-level one, led by our Chairman, to discuss Hong 

Kong-China business relations. Coming in our direction 

were over 70 delegations from the Mainland who visited 

the chamber and our members, and we eo-organized 

12s trade fairs and seminars with Mainland provinces 

and cities. 

1 have to tell you at this point that this will be my last 

report to you as the CEO of the Chamber. This is 

because 1 turned in my resignation from the Chamber 

in November, and I expect to leave the post in the 

spring of 2006. I have had a most wonderful and 

rewarding time in the Chamber, and as I said in the 
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opening sentence of this article, Hong Kong was like a 
roller-coaster, and I was one of the passengers through 
all these years with the Chamber. Without the terrific 
staff, the supportive members, and the dedicated 
Chairmen and Chamber leadership, I would not have 
enjoyed the ride as much as I did. I wish all of you a 
most prosperous 2006 and years beyond! Thank you! 

Eden Y Woon 
CEO 
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International Business Division 
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The International Business Division is responsible for developing and promoting global 

business connections and the provision of services to Chamber members interested in 

establishing business contacts outside of Hong Kong. lt organises outgoing missions and 

hosts meetings for incoming delegations and visitors from abroad. lt is also responsible for 

collecting the views of members on international business and trade issues and making 

these views known to the relevant authorities. 

PBEC International General Meeting 
The highlight of 2005 for the International Business 
Division was the Pacific Basic Economic Council (PBEC) 
38th International General Meeting in Hong Kong. Over 
500 delegates from the Pacific Basin region travelled to 
Hong Kong in June to attend the conference. Among 
the high profile speakers at the two-day event were 
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China's Vice Premier Madam Wu Yi, Malaysian Prime 
Minister Data' Seri Abdullah Ahmad Badawi, the then 
Director General of the World Trade Organization 
Or Supachai Panitchpakdi, Malaysian Minister of 
International Trade and Industry Data' Seri Rafidah Aziz, 
and Former United States Secretary of State General 
Colin Powell. Under the theme of "Pacific Basin: 
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Setting the Pace for the Global Economy," the 

conference called for closer cooperation to eliminate 

disputes and enhance regional and global trade. 

CEPA & the Pearl River Delta (Pan-PRD) 
2005 marked the third year of CEPA's implementation, 

and the Division continued to monitor the progress of 

the agreement. lt also continued to provide valuable 

input to the Hong Kong Government on further 

liberalization of certain sectors. 

The PRO was a major element in the Chamber's work 

plan in 2005. HKGCC continued to provide input on 

the Greater Pearl River Delta Business Council (see the 

Members interested in expanding their international trade 
connections benefited from Chamber trade missions and 
cocktail receptions with Consuls General in Hong Kong. 
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Business Policy Division's report), and organized the 

Fourth Pearl River Delta Conference, entitled "Growth 

and Its Consequences, "  held in Guangzhou in 

September. The Division also led a study mission to 

Foshan and Jiangmen in the PRO, as well as organized 

roundtable luncheons on the PRO throughout the year. 

With regard to the Pan-PRO, a Chamber delegation 

attended the Economic Forum, and the Pan-PRO Joint 

Associations Annual meeting of the 2nd Pan-PRO 

Regional Cooperation and Development Forum on July 

25 in Chengdu. During the meeting, the Chamber 

explored ways to enhance cooperation with other 

chambers of com merce in the region. 
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Outgoing m i ssio n s and i ncoming 

delegat ions 

During the year under review, the Division organised 

eight missions to expand members' outreach to 

Mainland and global markets. Missions were organized 

to: North East China, Beijing, Tianjin, Chengdu, Xiamen, 

PRD, Singapore & Malaysia, and Dubai & Tehran. 

In terms of incoming delegations and visitors, the 

Division received 11 0 groups from around the world in 

2005, including a head of state, Shaukat Aziz, the Prime 

Minister of Pakistan . The Division also received 

government ministers from around the globe as well as 

provincial governors from Mainland Ch1na. 

In 2005, HKGCC signed Memorandums of 

Understanding with: 

• The Federation of Bangladesh Chambers of 

Commerce and Industry (FBCCI) 

• Singapore Business Federation 

• The Chambers of Commerce of Ireland 

• Guangzhou Merchant Association 

• Hunan Provincial Department of Commerce 

• Jilin Federation of Industries and Commerce 

• Jiaxing International Chamber of Commerce 

B u s i ness informatio n , netwo rki n g  a n d  

match i n g  

During the year under review, the Division organized 

seminars, workshops, roundtable discussions and luncheons 

to keep members abreast of the latest issues affecting their 

business. it also organized networking opportunities through 

cocktail receptions for Consuls General of Asian/African, 

Americas and European countries, as well as individual 

meetings with Trade Commissioners from Europe. The 

Chamber also signed seven Memorandums of 

Understanding with organizations around the world in 2005. 

Trade conflicts arising from textile quotas being imposed by 

the United States and the European Union on Chinese 
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textile exports affected many members and therefore the 

Chamber organized a series of roundtable luncheons, 

workshops and briefings to keep members informed 

about the latest developments affecting the textile trade. 

Members also made good use of the business inquiries 

Meeting in Chengdu on July 26. During the meeting, 

the committee agreed to enhance the flow of 

information and exchanges between Hong Kong and 

the Mainland to better resolve problems faced by Hong 

Kong companies doing business in the Mainland. 

and matching services to enlarge their client base and to Pacific B a s i n  Economic C o u n c i l  

solve rudimentary business questions. Over 300 ( P B E  C) 

business inquiries were handled by the Division in 2005. The direct membership recruitment policy adopted by 

T h e  H o n g  Kong - M a i n l a n d  J oint 

B u s i ness Liaison Comm ittee (J B LC) 

The Chamber took on the role of Committee Secretariat 

of the JBLC at the committee's 5th Annual General 

The International Business Division received 1 1  0 
incoming delegations and visitors in 2005. Among 

these important guests were: 

• Shaukat Aziz, Prime Minister of Pakistan 

• Data' Seri Rafidah Aziz, Malaysian Minister of 

International Trade and Industry 

• Alfredo Ferrero, Minister of Foreign Trade and 

Tourism, Peru 

• Nicolas Eyzaguirre, Minister of Finance of Chile 

• Li Chengyu, Governor of Henan Province, China 

• Han Yuqun, Governor of Shangdong Province, China 

• Yu Youjun, Vice Governor of Hunan Province, China 
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PBEC International has rendered the role of regional 

PBEC committees obsolete. Therefore, at the 1 6th 

Annual General Meeting of PBEC Hong Kong Member 

Committee on September 30, members needed to 

consider what will be the future role of the committee. 
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Business Policy Division 
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rimary function of the Business Policy Division i s  to promote, represent and safeguard 
The :us iness sector's interest through formulating and advocating Chamber views and 
the 

. . n s  on  publ ic policies, especially those relating to small- and medium-sized 
posrtro . . . . 

·rses environment, mdustry & technology, and servrce mdustnes. 
enterpr ' 

. ess policies overview 
susrn . 

. . 

. 
· ess policy D IVISIOn handled a d tverse range of 

The sus1n 
. 

. 

. . es and activities dunng the year under revtew, 
poltcy iSSU . . 

. 

. etition policy contlnutng to be a maJor focus 
With comP . . 

. 

D. 
· ·10n The Expert Group on Compet1t1on Pohcy, 

of the \VIS . 

d by the Chamber under the auspices of its 
convene . .  

. licy think tank, the Hong Kong Coaht1on of 
serv�ce P0 . 

. 1 dustries (HKCSI), concluded 1ts report and 
ServiCe n 

'tt d it to the Financial Secretary. The report, 
subml e 

Chamber 'Site-seeing' Visits 

• House of Innovation at the Hong Kong 

Polytechnic University 

• Chemical waste Treatment Centre in Tsing Yi 

• L1 & Fung's distribution centre and supply chain 

perations 

• (alhay Pacific City and Cathay Catering Services 

n-flight kitchen 
Ocean Park for a briefing on the $5.5 billion 
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compiled over two years, provides substantive input 

into the government's ongoing review on the reform of 

Hong Kong's competition policy. 

In addition to supporting the "No Fakes" campaign, the 

Chamber continued to discuss with government 

proposals to amend the Copyright Ordinance, an issue 

which would affect every business. 
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Throughout 2005, the Division organized seminars and 

workshops covering a wide range of topics, and 

published its annual statistical data card, "Service Sector 

in Hong Kong 2005," and "The Servicing Economy 

Newsletter" under HKCSI. 

Travel/Tourism Committee 
• Development of a cruise terminal 

• Outbound tourism under CEPA 

• Ocean Park re-development 

Retail and Distribution Committee 
The Division oversees six committees and three special • Policies affecting retail sector such as smoking ban 

groups which deliberate on a wide range of policy issues and sales tax 

on behalf of Chamber members. Some examples • Intellectual property rights enforcement in the 

include: retail industry 

Financial Services Committee Creative industries working group 
• Promoting Hong Kong as a financial centre • Planned art village in Shek Kip Mei 

• Listing of Link-Reit • Hong Kong's innovative culture 

• Role of the Mortgage Corporation 
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Professional Services Committee 
• Promotion of professional services 
• Export credit insurance for services 

Other policy issues considered by the 
Division 

• Development of a heliport in the city 
• Franchising regulations in the Mainland 
• Building maintenance and illegal structures 
• Anti-spamming legislation 

• Constitutional development 
• Hong Kong as an aviation centre 

WTO MC6 
One of the highlights of the Division's activities in 2005 

was the Sixth Ministerial Conference (MC6) of the World 

Trade Organization . In preparation for.MC6, the Chamber, 

through the HKCSI, advocated to government greater 

business representation during the WTO negotiations. it 

also outlined the business position on negotiations, 

organized meetings among members and government 

officials, and conferred with CSis internationally on 

safeguarding the private sector's interests in the 

negotiations, as well as coordinated joint statements of the 

Global Services Coalition (GSC) on the WTO negotiations. 

The Division also organized dozens of activities prior to MC6, 

including roundtab\e luncheons, press commentaries and 

JrrvestM< "B" i'less@MC6" Welcome Reception 
The Chamber was very active before the WTO's 6th Ministerial Conference 
organizing talks, including with Raymond Young, Director-General of 
Trade and Industry, with ministers during the ministerial and also hosted 
a cocktail reception to welcome NGO delegates. 
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speeches to give members more information about the 

discussions. During the conference itself, HKGCC's six 

accredited representatives to MC6 worked hard 

representing the Chamber as well as coordinating the 

lobbying work of the GSC. HKCSI chaired a seminar with 

WTO Director General Pascal Lamy, and also hosted a 

"Business@MC6" welcome cocktail reception for overseas 

business NGOs with Invest Hong Kong. 

Environment Committee 
The Environment Committee was extremely busy during 

the year under review monitoring key policy issues, 

especially the Harbour Area Treatment Scheme and 

municipal solid waste disposal. lt also represented the 

Chamber in a number of green business campaigns, 
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including the "Eco-Products Award," and the "Eco-Business 

Award," as well as a stakeholder engagement programme 

spearheaded by the Council for Sustainable Development. 

The most important environmental initiative for the 

committee in 2005 was "Project Clean Air." The ongoing 

project aims to improve air quality in the Pearl River Delta 

and was established under the auspices of the Business 

Coalition on the Environment (BCE) with its 3 1 constituent 

bodies. The project also had the endorsement of Chief 

Executive Donald Tsang, who mentioned the Clean Air 

Charter - the project's centerpiece - in his Policy Address. 

The Clean Air Charter is also supported by the Greater 

Pearl River Delta Business Council, including, the 

Guangdong side of the PRO Business Council. 

The Division continues to be a key partner in the 
Eco-Business Awards, and the "Pearl for Youth" 
program which was expanded to include Shanghai. 
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d Technology Committee 

g�'-'ernment on the development of 

d�.;sl!i�:s, the committee managed the 

p:.IJr "site-seeing" program to allow 

t !"'t: '-'i'erations of well-known 

• K•.;.ng. The committee also provided 

H ng Kong Awards for Industries, which 

, -"""'...,'"'"' f the old "Hong Kong Awards for 

n • Kong Awards for Services." The 

aJin£ organizer of the award in the 

redtrvity category. 

ttee continued to champion SME 

rn ,,n policy issues in 2005 . , rn 

OinMr tontinues to be very popular among 

••••• 

particular, it provided substantial input on the Hong 

Kong Institute of certified Public Accountants' new 

"exposure draft on financial reporting framework and 

standard for SME," wh ich affects every SME. The 

committee also established an ongoing dialogue with 

the government B usiness Facilitation Unit on 

simplification of rules and regulations. 

The committee arra nged a w ide range of services and 

programs during the year u nder review for SMEs. These 

included 33 sME tra in ing courses, 28 roundtable 

luncheons, sME Night, and the highlight of the year, the 

a nn u a l  SM E  Spring Dinner. 

Mainland China 

The Division continued to support the Chamber's work 

on CEPA and the pearl River Delta during the year under 

review. it also led a delegation to participate in the 

Greater PRD counci l 's Joint Investment and Trade 

Promotion subgroup, cha ired by former HKGCC 

Chairma n Anth onY Nightingale. 

The subgro up held several joint meetings with its 

Guangdon g  cou nterpa rt during the year, both in Hong 

Kong a nd across th e  bo rder. Both s ides also cooperated 

on a H KSAR Government-funded study on attracting 

Mainland enterprises to Hong Kong, and an investment 

semina r  held in cua ngzhoU in September to promote 

i nvestment i n H o ng Ko ng by Guangdong enterprises. 
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The Chamber launched its "Clean Air Charter" in 2005 and 
a series of events to encourage businesses and individuals 
to lessen their impact on air pollution. 
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Economic and Legal Affairs Division 
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The Economic and Legal Affairs Division is responsible for economic policy and research, as well 

as taxation and legal issues and the major industries of real estate, construction, infrastructure, 

transport and shipping. These policy areas are managed under five committees within the 

Division: Economic Policy, Legal, Taxation, Shipping & Transport, and Real Estate & Infrastructure. 

Two thousand and five proved to be a challenging year 

for the Division due to the change of leadership in the 

government in the first half of the year under review 

which sidetracked some of the policy issues that were 

expected to be presented earlier. The survey on civil 

service compensation and how it compares to similar 

private sector jobs and the long awaited consultation on 

the prospect and nature of a goods and services tax 

(GST) are the two most pressing policies put on hold. 

The Division drafted detailed recommendations for 
submission to the government on ways to enhance 
Hong Kong's business environment. 
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The Division received a very diverse range of visitors in  

2005, and also drafted many position papers to reflect 

the Chamber's views on the issues of the day to 

government. In early 2005, the Chamber submitted its 

views strongly endorsing anti-racial discrimination 

legislation, but cautioned that compliance should not 

bring unnecessary burden on responsible companies. 

Various observers such as the World Economic Forum, 

the Heritage Foundation and the Fraser Institute consider 
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The Chamber presented 
the findings of its 
Business Prospects 
Survey to members of the 
press on December 1 .  
**�12� 1 B taliiJil�i$ 
r�ililliHJl!t!llllliJIU� • 

Hong Kong to be among the freest economies on earth, 
and such legislation simply enforces that perspective. 

The annual Business Prospect Survey, which polls 
members' views at the end of each year on a range of 
subjects, pointed a cautious finger at 2006 and 2007. 

After two sterling years of better than 7% real economic 
growth (the strongest since the late 1 980s ), the prospect 
of a good, but slower period loomed. Chamber Chief 
Economist David O'Rear presented similar views in his 
forecast at the Annual Business Summit in November. 

Committee work 
The five committees which the Division looks after meet 
regularly to address members' concerns and consider 

policy perspectives to be forwarded to the General 
Committee or, in some cases, directly to government. 
Briefings from experts and officials help members 
understand the complexity of issues such at the electric 
power scheme of control or the ins and outs of 
healthcare reform. 

Active members contribute generously i n  terms of time 
and talent, and bring with them extensive experience in 
both business and public affairs. Without their drive and 
determination to ensure that Hong Kong has the best 
possible policies, the work of the Chamber would 
indeed suffer. 
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Economic Policy Committee 
During the year under review, the committee made 

substantial contributions to the Chamber's submissions to 

government on the Chief Executives' Policy Addresses and 

the Financial Secretary's annual Budget. The committee 

received briefings from government officials and other 

experts on topical issues during the year. Among the 

guests were Deputy Treasury Secretary Martin Glass and 

Hospital Authority Chairman Anthony Wu. 

submissions were made in response to public 

consultations on reforms to public healthcare, maximum 

working hours and minimum pay, and partial 

privatisation of the Airport Authority, among others. 

Legal Committee 
The Legal Committee had a very active year, with 

recommendations being made to government on a 

range of issues impacting business and commercial law. 

Among the most important of these were views on anti­

racial discrimination legislation, sick leave certification by 

Chinese medicine practitioners, the sharing of 

information under double taxation agreements, listing 

rules, and the Policy Address and Budget. 

Taxation  Committee 
The main foci of the committee in 2005 were on 

proposals for a partial review of the Inland Revenue 

Ordinance and recommendations for the annual Budget 

submission. The committee also lobbied LegCo and 
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government vigorously on the potentially adverse impact 

arising from a shift in taxation principles as a result of 

proposals related to the exemption of offshore funds from 

profits tax. To enhance Hong Kong's attractiveness to 

investors, the committee made a submission to 

government on the introduction of group tax relief and 

the elimination of the estate duty. 

Shipping and Transport Committee 
During the year under review, the committee provided 

input to a government-sponsored study on competition in  

the local fuel market, and commented on such initiatives 

as the proposal to reduce fees to attract more cargo. The 

Port Affairs Working Group, a sub-committee of the 

Shipping and Transport Committee, worked with the 

Chamber's Travel and Tourism Committee on possible 

measures to further develop the cruise ship market in  

Hong Kong. The Working Group also drew up the 2006 

schedules for the Tramp Agency Fees and Mooring and 

Un-mooring Charges. 

Real Estate and Infrastructure Committee 
The committee submitted comments on a wide range of 

issues in 2005 that included the development of a 

government green building assessment scheme, Kai Tak 

Review Stage 2 Consultations, Building Height Restriction at 

Wong Chuk Hang and the Mandatory Building Inspection 

Scheme. A Working Group was also set up with the brief of 

reviewing existing land policy on possible enhancements 

for submission to the authorities. 
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DIVISIONAL REPORTS 

Operations Division 

Digital, Information & 
"'""'1"'2'tinru: (DITJ Committee 

Speaker: 
Deputy Director-Genera/ of 
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. . . . . ponsib le for ma i nt a in ing  t h e  smooth  r u n n i n g  of the  

OperatiOnS DIVISIOn IS res · . . . 
. . h logy services an d  overseemg the admm1strat1on & f inances of 

.. nb4er's mformat1on tee no ' , . . 

. . . I ponsib le  fo r th e Ch a m b e r s D 1g 1 ta l ,  I n fo rmat io n & 
a 1zat1on. lt IS a so res 

ications (DIT) Com mittee. 

•maltion technology 

• []lalml!tK� Webs1re continues to grow in strength, 

• ts popularity and depth of information 

ered :1 the site. The number of page 

e n 2005 increased by a lmost 5% over 

reach just over I .6 million per month.  

fr m 1 34 countries/economies, the 

H ng t.ong (47.3%), USA (30.4%), 

an 13.40,\J) and South Korea (3.00fo) .  

If � .:t  · m�I'A��f-!JmH% 
,..:, f;J J:j ·-,5-����rt!'! 1 60 � . 

a · ·  :J�s% ·· .  :"ln:tr�ttfl1 34 
� � ·r 13 �;y; (47 . 3 % )  . � �  

, _, .. ..  ,.... ;:; . (3.4%)'fili¥JU(3.0%) o 
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As the Chamber Website is becoming increasingly well­
known internationally, more members are taking 
advantage of this development to promote their 
products and services via the Chamber Website. This is 
reflected both in the surge in advertising income 
generated from the site and the jump in page views. 

In addition to providing timely and useful business 

information, the site also serves as a useful tool for 
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Th� Division was very 
act1ve m 2005 and 
organized a wide range 
of events for members. 
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The Chamber organized 
a "Government at Work 
Series" of roundtables for 
members to meet with 
working-level officials 
such as Howard Dick;on 
Government Chief 

' 

Information Officer. 
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DIVISIONAL REPORTS 

"Chambo" and e-Ciub are 
two new free services that 
members can use through 
the Chamber Website. The 
Division is also informing 
members what services 
are available to them 
through new promotional 
materials. 
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members. During the year under review, members made 
2,542 on-line bookings for Chamber events. They also 
made 833 updates to their membership records online, 
using COMIUS, a system developed by the Chamber's in­
house IT team to replace the paper updating process, which 
was clumsy, time consuming and prone to errors. As for 
the Chamber e-Ciub - an online version of a personal post 
office box dedicated exclusively for Chamber information 
which members choose to receive - there are now around 
700 active users. Over 1 ,400 member representatives had 
activated their e-Ciub accounts by the end of 2005. 

and rejects. By the end of 2005, more than 500 people 
had registered to use the service, and over 600 items 
were listed for sale. As of last year, the service averaged 
over 80,000 page views per month. 

DIT Committee 
The Digital, Information and Telecommunications (DIT) 
Committee gives advice on DIT related policy issues as well 
as promoting IT usage in business. Jack So, Deputy 
Chairman and Group Managing Director of PCCW, was 
Chairman for a second term in 2005 and he is supported 
by four Vice Chairmen - two focusing on policy and two on 

In the fourth quarter of 2005, the Division began a trial programmes. Under the auspices of the DIT Committee, 
run of 'Chamber Chambo' - a  free on line service for users the Division organized 1 6  roundtables and workshops 
to buy/sell their new/second-hand goods, surplus stocks during the year under review. it also organized a cocktail 

The Chamber expanded its filing area and fitted energy 
saving neon ballasts and halogen lamps through out 
the office to reduce electricity consumption. 
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embers to meet and chat with members of 
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h members. The monthly Members' Lunch 
and ot er 

· member of the Chamber, as well as golf 'th a sentor 

and cocktails continue to be welcome by members. 

6, the membership team plans to expand the variety 

_,..,.,h,,·n events that the Chamber organizes to provide 

with a wider selection of activities to choose from. 

ber finances 

mber's finances performed reasonably well in 

he surplus for the year increased by about 6.9% 

.; to $ 1 1 .8 mill ion. The surplus came from strong 
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operational performance ($6.2 mill ion), a better 

realized gain on the Chamber General Fund ($ 1 .26 million) 

and dividends received from Tradelink ($4.3 million). 

If Tradelink dividends were to be excluded, the Chamber's 

total operational income would be about the same as 

in 2004. However, total expenditure increased by 2% 

over 2004 

During the year, the Chamber's assets recorded an 

exceptional increase of about $41 million. This is due to the 

value of the shares that we hold in Tradelink. The Chamber 

is one of the founders of Tradelink, which was established in 

1 989. We invested about $5.8 million in Tradelink and have 

received more than $ 1  0 million in dividends from it so far. 

Tradelink successfully launched its IPO in Hong Kong in 

October 2005. Our share holding in Tradelink at the end of 

the year was worth about $47 million . 

In spite of the satisfactory surplus, we have to look ahead 

and meet chal lenges which may be lurking on the horizon. 

During the year in review, membership seemed to be at 

best stagnating. Bureau service for electronic trade 

declaration submissions dropped quite sharply, although its 

loss was partially offset by a slight increase in other CO 

incomes. Program income also experienced a decrease, 

which was mainly due to higher operating costs. As 

expenditure has been kept to a minimum for many years 

and if an increase in fees and charges is not the preferred 

option, we will have to rely more on other sources of 

income, which will be a challenge for the years to come . 
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DIVISIONAL REPORTS 

Human Resources Division 
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man Resources D ivision  ma na ges the ch amber's corporate human resources, serves 

-power Committee to exam i ne issues relating to manpower and human resources, 

"des training and developm ent services to members by organizing conferences, 

-�����r5 and workshops. 

•IO'�er Committee 

r nder review, the committee convened 

rrwtmo� : dis:::uss key issues facing Hong Kong 

nimum wage and maximum working 

.nllr-f�L'llf discrimination, education and persona l  

thers. lt also arranged roundtable 

ng. and workshops, with the largest 

mmittee in 2005 being the first "CEO 

fe:ence" in May. 

· g s  uture " 
under the banner "Human Capital · Hong Kon I F 

the conference, which was closed to the media to 
' 

encourage an uninhibited exchange of ideas s 1 • aw a most 

1 00 CEOs and human resources heads deliberate Hong 

Kong's future manpower challenges. As a result of the 

conference, the Chamber advocated reforms in 

education and immigration policies to maintain Hong 

Kong's compettttveness. 

The Division organized 
a CEO Manpower 
Conference in May to 
address Hong Kong's 
future manpower 
challenges . 
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DIVISIONAL REPORTS 

Programs & training 
The Division continues to emphasize the benefits of 
training and development to help enhance the overall 
standard of employees as well as the need for 
continuous learning. During the year under review, the 
Division organized 97 training courses for a lmost 1 ,000 

participants covering HR, general administrative and 
customer service skills, strategic management skills, 
finance, languages and many other practical soft 
business skills. The Division also partnered with various 
professional bodies and universities to increase the 
scope and variety of training programs offered to 
businesses, as well as organized tailor-made training 
courses at the request of members. In addition to its 
current training services, the Division will continue to 
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expand the variety of topics covered in courses to meet 
members' needs. 

To encourage more members to use the Division's 
training services, the Chamber, in cooperation with the 
Bank of China, administers one of the Chamber's 
member benefits programs - BOC HKGCC Visa Card 
Training Fund - which offers rebates to members' staff 
enrolling in Chamber training programs. 

The Division strives to provide first-hand human resources 
and management related information to members by 
organizing roundtables and seminars. During the year 
under review, the Division organized 1 6  roundtable 
luncheons and seminars on various topical issues, and 

Seminars and training programs keep members informed 
of the latest regulations impacting the HR field. 
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attracted almost 800 participants. lt also continues to 
provide members with manpower-related news and 
information, as well as job opening services through the 
Manpower Corner on the Chamber's Website. 

At the community level, the Division participates in a 
variety of activities. The longest-running of these is the 
"The Good Citizen Award." The award is organized by 
the Hong Kong Police and sponsored solely by the 
Chamber. Since its launch in 1 973, the scheme has 
commended over 3,300 citizens. The Division also eo­
organized "The Hong Kong Occupational Safety & Health 
Award," and supported the "Territory-wide Health 
Campaign," the Community Chest, and "Business-School 
Partnership Program," which could be expanded to 

Over 3,300 citizens have been awarded under the Good Citizen 
Award, which is solely sponsored by the Chamber. 
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include more schools and companies in  2006 after an  
initial review of the current program. 

During the year under review, the Chamber provided 
internships to five university students, both from local 
and overseas universities, to provide them with practical 
on-the-job experience. 

Corporate Human Resources 
With the economy improving, and increased demands 
being placed on Chamber employees, staff turnover in 
2005 was higher than in previous year, but on the 
whole the workforce remained stable and committed to 
serving members' needs. Overall headcount continues 
to be closely watched to control costs, and stood at 1 26 

at the end of 2005. 

As a caring organization, the Chamber organized a 
number of activities to promote a healthy, harmonious 
working environment in 200.5. These included a staff 
outing to Hong Kong Disneyland prior to its official 
opening, a year-end staff dinner, and a series of health 
talks on "Healthy Lifestyle" to encourage staff and their 
family to eat a healthy diet and to exercise regularly. 

The Division also organized staff training and 
development programs to upgrade staff's language, 
customer service, and time management skills, in 
addition to two workshops on image enhancement. 
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DIVISIONAL REPORTS 

Certification Division 
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The Certification Division provides quality and efficient certificate of origin (CO) and 

electronic trade documentation services at various rates to Chamber members and 

non-members. lt  operates six offices throughout the Hong Kong SAR to ensure easy 

access to its services by a l l  prospective clients. 

Good results 
The year under review was a busy year for the Division. 
In 2005, the Chamber processed and issued 634,402 

trade documents, which included 4, 1 66 CEPA 
certificates of origin (CO), 234,997 certificates of 
origin, 394,431 import and export trade declarations 
(TDEC) and 808 production notifications (PN). The 
total number of documents processed showed a drop 
of 7% compared with the figure of 685,93 1 processed 
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i n  2004. The drop was mainly in  TDEC (-1 2.6%) as 
more traders switched to using electronic means to 
lodge their applications and the introduction of a new 
service provider. 

The Chamber's smart card payment system has been 
well received as a substitute for cumbersome cash 
payment. By the end of the year, over 897 smart cards 
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had been issued. Over 30% of all CO transactions were 

conducted through the smart card payment system. 

CO processing time, including the time required for the 

CO correction process, has also been further reduced 

and the Chamber now provides an expeditious service in 

all its certification branch offices which are strategically 

located in Hong Kong, Kowloon and the New Territories. 

Certification Division staff members worked hard 

throughout the year to provide a superior service to all 

members and non-members. 

Investigation 
To uphold the integrity of the certification system, over 

2,8 1 4  consignment checks on certificate applications 

were made. As a result, 1 77 applications were refused 
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and 22 certificates of origin were referred to the Trade 

Investigation Bureau of the Customs and Excise 

Department for further investigation and prosecution. 

ATA Carnet 
The Chamber is the sole body in Hong Kong approved to 

issue ATA carnets. These are international customs 

documents which permit trade samples, exhibition goods 

and professional equipment to be taken across national 

frontiers without payment of duty. In 2005, a total of 4,5 1 9  

carnets were issued, an increase of 1 2% over the figure for 

2004. These covered goods totalling $6,368 million. 

During the year, 4 1 9  disputes arising out of the functioning 

of the carnet system were settled. Among these disputes, 

1 3  cases resulted in payment of customs duties. 

Chan Woon-san (right), who worked as the Chamber's 

Senior Director for Certification since September 1 982, 

retired on January 1 ,  2006, after 38 years of service with 

the Chamber. Dr YS Cheung, formerly Senior Director for 

Operations at the Chamber, has been appointed to take 

over his position as Senior Director of Certification. 
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Chamber Services Limited 
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In February, the company organized two international 

back-to-back events for the Narcotics Division of the 

H KSAR Security Bureau, namely the "Creating Global 

Partnership and Synergy in the Fight against Money­

Laundering" and "Tackling Drug Abuse." One of the 

largest conferences that the company took on in 2005 

was the 38th Pacific Basin Economic Council's 

International General Meeting in Hong Kong in June. 

Over 500 delegates from the Pacific Basin attended the 
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Chamber Services 
Limited organized 
some of the biggest 
international 
conferences that took 
place in Hong Kong 
in 2005. 
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two-day conference to listen to such distinguished 

speakers as Madam Wu Yi, Vice Premier of China, 

Malaysian Prime Minister Dato' Seri Abdullah Ahmad 

Badawi, and Former United States Secretary of State 

General Colin Powell, among others. 

In the second half of 2005, the company worked with 

HKGCC and South China Morning Post to organize the 

"Fourth Pearl River Delta Conference," which was held in 

Guangzhou. Then i n  October, the company organized for 

the Department of Medicine & Therapeutics of the 

Chinese University of Hong Kong the "Seventh Hong 

Kong Diabetes and Cardiovascular Risk Factors: East 

Meets West Symposium." The company also worked 

closely with The Competitiveness Institute (headquartered 
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i n  Barcelona) and the Hong Kong Institute of Economics 

and Business Strategy under the University of Hong Kong, 

in November to organize the Eighth Annual International 

Conference of The Competitiveness Institute - a first in 

Hong Kong. 

Award ceremonies, social and publ ic events 
Chamber Services Limited was again selected to 

organize the Hong Kong Eco-Business Awards for 

2004/2005. I n  addition, two high-profile events that 

the company organized in  2005 was an inauguration 

ceremony and gala dinner celebrating the establishment 

of the Hong Kong Gemstone Manufacturers' Association 

(HKGMA), and "Clean Air Day," a public event to 

launch "Project Clean Air," which was jointly initiated by 
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the Chamber and the Hong Kong Business Coalition on 

the Environment. 

Economic/business research and 
organization representation 
Chamber Services Limited extended its services in 2005 to 

include business and industry research tailored to 

customers' requirements through cooperation with 

academia and professors from local universities. it also 

continued to provide business representation services to the 

International Business Organization of Osaka, and added the 

Belarus Chamber of Commerce in Hong Kong, Chiangmai 

University, and Provincial Office of Mae Hong Son of the 

Thai Royal Government to the list of clients that it serves. 

Business-matching, training and visits 
During 2005, the company organized a number of 

business-matching and investment seminars for Mainland 

organizations, which included the Taizhou Foreign Trade 

& Economic Cooperation Bureau, the Foreign Trade & 
Economic Cooperation Bureau of Panyu Guangzhou 

Municipality, and the China-Singapore Cooperation 

Suzhou Industrial Park. 

it also continued to develop and expand its corporate 

training courses for senior executives and officials from 

Mainland China last year, as well as tailored training 

courses for organizations in Hong Kong which wanted to 

learn more about particular businesses and industries in 

the region. 
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During the year under review, the company 

organized study tours for overseas and Mainland 

delegates to visit: 

China 
• Guangzhou Baiyun Airport 

• Guangzhou Development Zone 

• Guangzhou Nansha Development Zone 

• Shenzhen China Development Institute 

• Shenzhen High-Tech Industrial Park 

Hong Kong 
• Airport Authority Hong Kong 

• Hong Kong Convention and Exhibition Centre 

• Hong Kong Cyberport 

• Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearings 

• Hong Kong Institute of Biotechnology 

• Hong Kong Science & Technology Park 

• Hong Kong Trade Development Council 

• Invest Hong Kong 

• Kwai Chung Container Port 

• The University of Hong Kong 
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GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT 
2000 

Nominal GDP (HK$ Bill1on) 1 ,3 1 5  
- Private Consumption 774 

- Government Consumption 1 20 

- Capital Investment 347 

- Inventories 1 4  

- Goods and Services Exports 1 ,888 

- Goods Exports 1 ,573 

- Services Exports 3 1 5  
- Goods and Services Imports 1 ,829 

- Goods Imports 1 ,637 

- Services Imports 1 92 

- Domestic Demand 1 , 1 98 

Inflation and Wages 
- Composite CPI -3.7 

- CPI A -2.9 

- CPI B -3.9 

- CPI C -4.4 
- GDP Deflator -7.9 

Real GDP (2000 HK$ Billion) 1 ,3 1 5  

- Private Consumption 774 

- Government Consumption 1 20 

- Capital Investment 347 

- I nventories 1 4  

- Goods and Services Exports 1 ,888 

- Goods Exports 1 ,573 

- Services Exports 3 1 5  

- Goods and Services Imports 1 ,829 

- Goods Imports 1 ,637 

- Services Imports 1 92 

- Domestic Demand 1 , 1 98 

Real GDP (% Change) 1 0.4 

- Private Consumption 5.4 

- Government Consumption 2.0 

- Capital Investment 9.8 

- I nventories (o/o of GDP) 1 . 1  

- Goods and Services Exports 1 6.4 

- Goods Exports 1 7. 1  

- Services Exports 1 2.9 

- Goods and Services Imports 1 6.6 

- Goods lrnports 1 8.2 

- Services Imports 4.2 
- Domestic Demand 1 3.3 
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2001 

1 ,299 
783 

1 2 9  
333 

-4 
1 ,802 

1 ,48 1 

3 2 1  

1 ,743 

1 ,549 

1 94 

1 , 1 82 

- 1 .6 

- 1 .7 

- 1 .7 

- 1 .5 
- 1 .8 

1 ,323 

790 

1 2 7  

357 

-5 
1 ,855 
1 ,520 

335 

1 ,802 

1 ,605 

1 96 
1 ,2 1 6  

0.6 
2. 1  

6.0 
2.6 

-0.4 

- 1 .7 

-3.3 

6.4 

- 1 .5 

- 1 .9 

2.0 

1 .5 

2002 2003 2004 2005 

1 ,277 1 ,234 1 ,292 1 ,382 
748 7 1 9  768 809 
1 3 ] 1 30 1 27 1 2 1  

286 2 6 1  275 288 

6 9 7 -4 
1 ,9 1 0  2, 1 1 2  2,457 2,731 

1,562 1 ,749 2,027 2,252 

348 362 430 480 

1 ,804 1 ,997 2,342 2,563 

1 ,602 1 ,794 2, 1 00 2,3 1 1  
202 203 243 252 

1 ,065 1 ,006 1 ,062 1 ,047 

-3. 1 -2.6 -0.4 1 .0 

-3.2 -2.1  -0.1 1 . 1  

-3. 1  -2.9 -0.3 1 . 1  
-2.8 -3.3 -0.4 0.9 

-3.5 -6.3 -3.6 -0.3 

l,347 1 ,3 9 1  1 , 5 1 0  1 ,621 
783 775 832 862 
1 3 1 1 33 1 34 1 30 

340 343 354 368 
7 1 0  7 -5 

2,024 2,288 2,649 2,93 1 

1 ,652 1 ,887 2, 1 7 6  2,4 1 8  
372 401 473 5 1 2  

1 ,936 2, 1 59 2,465 2,665 
1 ,732 1 ,960 2,237 2,430 

204 200 229 235 

1 , 173 1 , 1 33 1 , 1 44 1 ,6 2 1  

1 .8 3.2 8.6 7.3 

- 1 .0 -0.9 7.3 3.7 

2.5 1 .9 0.7 -3.0 

-4.5 0.9 3.0 3.9 
0.5 0.7 0. 5  -0.3 

9 . 1  1 3. 1  1 5.8 1 0.7 
8.7 1 4.2 1 5.3 1 1 .2 

1 0.9 7.9 1 7.9 8.4 
7.5 1 1 .5 1 4.2 8 . 1  
7.9 1 3. 1  1 4. 1  8.6 
3.9 -2.1 1 4.6 2.8 

-3.5 -3.4 0.9 4 1 .7 



PEOPLE 
2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 

Population (millions) 6.665 6.725 6.787 6.803 6.883 6.944 
- Male (%) 49.2 48.9 48.6 48.5 48.2 47.9 
- Female (%) 50.8 5 1 . 1  5 1 .4 5 1 .6 5 1 .8 52. 1  
- 0· 1 4  years o ld (%) 1 6.9 1 6.4 1 6 . 1  1 5.7 1 5. 1  1 4. 5  
- 1 5-24 years old (%) 1 3.9 1 3.6 1 3. 1  1 2 .9 1 3 . 1  1 3 . 1  
- 25-39 years old (O.o) 27. 1 26.7 26.2 25.4 24.6 24.0 
- 40-64 years old (%) 3 1 . 1  32 . 1  33.2 34.3 35.3 36.4 
- Over 65 years old (%) 1 0.9 1 1 .2 1 1 .4 1 1 .7 1 1 .9 1 2.0 
Labour Force (million} 3.366 3.425 3.475 3.503 3.523 3.582 
- Employed (million) 3 . 1 95 3.256 3.237 3.227 3.279 3.378 

- Wholesale, Retail, Trade, 1 .032 1 .0 1 9  0.995 0.965 0.993 1 .0 1 6  
- Finance & Business Services 0.429 0.436 0.430 0.422 0.437 0.453 
- Community Services 0.349 0.374 0.396 0.407 0.420 0.436 
- Manufacturing 0.232 0.2 1 2  0. 1 93 0. 1 73 0. 1 68 0. 1 64 
- Civil Service 0. 1 84 0. 1 78 0. 1 7 1  0 . 1 67 0. 1 6 1  0. 1 57 
- Transportation & Communications 0. 1 79 0. 1 83 0. 1 80 0. 1 72 0. 1 79 0. 1 83 

- Other 0.790 0.854 0.872 0.920 0.922 0.968 
- Unemployed (million) 0. 1 72 0. 1 69 0.239 0.278 0.243 0.205 
Unemployment Rate (O.O) 4.9 4.9 6.9 7.8 6.9 5.7 
Under-employment Rate {%) 2.8 2.4 3.0 3.5 3.3 3 . 1  
Tourism Arrivals (million} 1 3. 1  1 3.7 1 6.6 1 5.5 2 1 .8 23.4 

FINANCE 
2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 

Stock Exchange Indices (year-end) 

Hang Seng Index (July 1 964=100) 1 5,096 1 1 ,397 9,3 2 1  1 2,576 1 4,230 1 4,876 
- Finance 24,042 1 9,498 1 8,23 1 26,264 28,238 26,6 1 4  
- Utilities 2 1 ,705 20,499 2 1 ,97 1  24,879 30,773 3 1 ,866 
- Properties 1 8,362 1 5,555 1 1 , 1 04 1 4,779 1 8, 1 78 1 7,978 
- Commerce & Industry 8, 1 52 5,509 4,044 5,272 6,077 7 , 1 39 
Monthly Average Turnover (HK$ billion) 284 1 63 1 3 3  2 1 2  329 375 
Market Capitalisation (US$ billion) 6 1 5  506 463 7 1 2  860 1 ,052 

Money and Banking 
No. of licensed banks (operating) 1 54 1 47 1 33 1 34 1 3 3  1 33 
No. of restricted license banks 48 49 46 42 40 33 
No. of DTCs (operating) 6 1  54 45 39 35 33 
Money Supply M 1 (HK$ billion) 244 258 296 4 1 3  484 435 
Money Supply M2 (HK$ billion) 3,605 3,550 3,5 1 8 3,8 1 3  4, 1 67 4,379 
Money Supply M3 (HK$ billion) 3,648 3,594 3,562 3,857 4, 1 90 4,407 
Total Bank Deposits (HK$ billion) 3,528 3,407 3,3 1 8  3,567 3,866 4,068 
Total loans and advances (HK$ billion) 2,461 2, 1 85 2,076 2,035 2, 1 56 2,3 1 3  
- Loans for use in Hong Kong 75.6 8 1 .9 83.9 84.0 83. 1  83.5 

(percent share) 

- All other loans (percent share) 24.4 1 8. 1  1 6. 1 1 6.0 1 6.9 1 6.5 
Hong Kong Dollar Prime Rate (average) 9.2 7.0 5 . 1  5.0 5.0 6 . 1  

Exchange Rate 
HK$:US$1 (average) 7.79 7.80 7.80 7.79 7.79 7.78 
HK$:€ 1 (average) 8.46 8.7 1 8.25 6.89 6.26 6.24 
HK$:¥1 00 (average) 7.23 6.43 6.24 6.68 7.2 1 7.08 
HK$:Rmb 1 (average) 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.95 0.94 0.95 
Trade Weighted Index (Jan 2000 = l OO) 1 0 1 .73 1 04.72 1 04.09 1 00.93 98.3 1 97.39 
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FINANCE (Continued) 

Public Finances (HK$ bill1on, FY Apfll ·March) 
Operating Revenue Operating Expenditure 

1 998·99 1 76.8 1 77.4 
1 999·00 1 75.2 1 75.9 

2000-01 1 7 1 .3 1 86.7 

2001-02 1 5 1 .4 1 98.7 

2002·03 1 53.3 201 .3 

2003-04 1 47.7 206.7 

2004·05 1 75.6 1 96.9 
2005·06 1 92.5 1 94.7 
2006·07 (budget) 1 95.3 209.0 

Merchandise Trade (HKS billion) 2000 2001 

Total Imports (ci.f.) 1 ,658 1 ,568 

Total Exports (f.o.b.) 1 ,573 1 ,481 

- Domestic Exports 1 8 1  1 54 

- Re-exports 1 ,392 1 ,327 

Total Trade 3,23 1 3,049 

Trade Balance -85.3 ·87.2 

- as a percent of imports ·5.1 -5.6 

Services Trade 
Exports of Services 3 1 5.0 320.8 

Imports of Services 1 92.4 1 94.2 

Two-way Services Trade 507.4 5 1 5.0 

Services Balance 1 22.6 1 26.6 

Domestic Merchandise Exports: Major Markets (HKS billion) 

The Mainland 54.2 49.5 

USA 54.4 47.6 

UK 1 0.7 8.6 

Taiwan 6.1 5.3 
Netherlands 3.9 4.6 

Germany 9.3 5.8 

Japan 5.1  4. 1 

Merchandise RE-exports: Major Markets (HKS billion) 

The Mainland 488.8 496.6 

USA 3 1 1 .0 282.2 
Japan 82. 1 83.6 

Germany 50.6 45.8 

UK 52.4 46.8 

Korea 27.0 24.6 

Taiwan 33.7 30.0 

Singapore 32.0 26.9 

Domestic Merchandise Imports: Major Suppliers (HKS billion) 

The Mainland 7 1 5.0 

Japan 1 99.0 

Taiwan 1 24.2 

USA 75.0 

Singapore 1 1 2.8 

Korea 80.6 

Malaysia 37.9 
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682.0 

1 76.6 

1 07.9 

72.9 

1 04.9 

70.8 

39.2 

Operating Balance Fiscal Reserves (FY -end) 
-0.6 434.3 
·0.7 444.3 

· 1 5.4 430.3 

-47.3 380.6 

-48.0 3 1 5.5 

·59. 1 275.3 
·2 1 .3 287.3 

·2.3 300.8 

·1 3.7 306.3 

2002 2003 2004 2005 
1 ,61 9 1 ,8 1 1  2, 1 1 4 2,333 
1 ,561 1 ,744 2,020 2,25 1 

1 3 1 1 22 1 26 1 3 6  
1 ,430 1 ,622 1 ,894 2, 1 1 5  

3, 1 80 3,555 4, 1 3 5  4,584 

·58.9 -66.5 -93.8 -8 1 .4 

-3.6 -3.7 ·4.4 -3.5 

347.8 362.4 42 1 .9 469.3 

202.5 203.4 233.8 246.0 

550.3 565.8 655.7 7 1 5.3 

1 45.3 1 59.0 1 88. 1 223.4 

4 1 .4 36.8 37.9 44.6 

4 1 .9 39.1 38.6 37.8 

7.6 7.8 8.2 7.3 

4.4 3.7 4.7 5. 1 

3.5 2.5 2.6 5.4 

4.3 4.9 5.0 4.4 

3.0 2.8 2.8 4.3 

5 7 1 .9 705.8 850.6 967.9 

29 1 .0 285. 1 303.0 322.9 
80.7 9 1 .2 1 04.7 1 1 4.3 
44.6 5 1 .4 57.9 68.4 

46.6 49.6 57.7 6 1 .9 
29.3 34.3 42.7 46.6 

30.2 38.6 44.4 45.3 
29.4 33.5 40.4 42.5 

7 1 7. 1  785.6 9 1 8.3 1 ,049.3 
1 82.6 2 1 4.0 256.1 256.5 
1 1 5.9 1 25.2 1 53.8 1 68.2 

75.7 90.6 1 1 1 .0 1 35.2 

9 1 .5 98.7 1 1 2.0 1 1 9.3 
76.0 87.3 1 00.5 1 03.0 

39.7 44.6 5 1 .9 57.2 



Imports by End-use (HK$ billion) 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 

Foodstuffs 63.7 60.4 59. 1 58.3 60. 1 6 1 .3 

Consumer Goods 562.2 538.0 543.2 575.8 63 1 .8 677.9 

Fuels 34.0 30.4 3 1 .3 35.4 48.6 60.5 

Raw Materials & Manufactures 580.5 5 1 1 .4 558. 1 654.4 805.2 869.2 

Capital Goods 4 1 7.6 428. 1 427.7 48 1 .8 565.4 660.6 

Re-exports by End Use (HK$ billion) 

Foodstuffs 1 9.7 1 7.4 1 6.2 1 4.7 1 2.4 1 1 .9 

Consumer goods 609.5 570.2 580.4 6 1 7.3 679. 1 734.5 

Raw materials and semi-manufactures 425.4 396.0 448.3 533.2 662.3 7 2 1 .9 

Fuels 2.5 1 .9 1 .7 2.0 2.7 3.7 

Capital goods 334.7 342.0 383.0 453.5 536.7 642.2 

Services Exports (HK$ billion) 

Total 3 1 5.0 320.8 347.8 362.4 421 .9 469.3 

Transportation 99.5 1 0 1 .8 1 09.7 1 07.7 1 3 3.7 1 50.2 

Travel 6 1 .8 64.6 78.0 55.6 70.1 78. 1 

Trade-related 79.6 99.3 1 09. 1 1 30.2 1 46.4 1 64.3 

Other 74. 1 55.1 5 1 .0 69.0 7 1 .7 76.7 

Services Imports (HK$ billion) 

Total 1 92.4 1 94.2 202.5 203.4 233.8 246.0 

Transportation 48.6 49.3 50.0 52.3 62.7 68.8 

Travel 97.4 96. 1 94.9 89. 1  
. 

1 03.3 1 05.5 

Trade-related 1 1 .2 1 0.5 1 0.4 1 6.0 1 8. 1  20. 1 

Other 35.2 38.3 47.3 46.0 49.7 5 1 .6 

OTHER INDICATORS 
2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 

Electricity Consumption (Terajoules) 1 34,928 1 39,830 1 44,942 1 49,262 1 52,3 1 3  1 60,363 

- Industrial 1 7,769 1 6,759 1 6, 1 1 2  1 4,85 1 1 5,430 1 4,636 

- Commercial 80,347 84,2 1 4  87,24 1  88,834 9 1 ,255 93,341 

- Domestic 32,234 32,799 33,394 34,365 34, 1 34 35,8 1 1  

- Other (incl. Export) 4,578 6,058 8, 1 95 1 1 , 2 1 2  1 1 ,494 1 6,575 

Telecommunications ('000 accounts) 

- Residential 2,2 1 0  2, 1 6 1  2, 1 34 2, 1 1 9 2, 1 1 8  2, 1 1 7 

- Business 1 ,736 1 ,765 1 ,708 1 ,7 0 1  1 ,662 1 ,680 

- Fax 404 4 1 1  546 49 1  456 4 1 0  

- Broadband Internet 392 623 989 1 ,2 3 1  1 ,484 1 ,700 

- Mobile phone 4,275 5,447 5,776 6,396 7,349 8,2 1 4  

Motor Vehicle Registrations (No.) 
Total licensed 5 1 6,782 525,376 525,5 5 1  524,249 532,872 540,640 

- new registrations 52,446 58,527 45,65 1  35,229 4 1 , 1 05 40,974 

Private cars 332,000 3 8 1 ,757 384,864 382,880 385,028 388,3 1 1 

- new registrations 34,630 34,943 27,71 9 22,821 27,4 1 1  27,032 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Auditors' report to the members of 
The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce 
("the Chamber") 
(incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee) 

We have audited the financial statements on pages 65 to 80 which have 
been prepared in  accordance with accounting principles general ly 
accepted in Hong Kong. 

Respective responsibilities of the General Committee and auditors 
The Hong Kong Companies Ordinance requires the General Committee 
to prepare financial statements which give a true and fair view. In 
preparing financial statements which give a true and fair view it is 
fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied 
consistently, that judgements and estimates are made which are prudent 
and reasonable and that the reasons for any significant departure from 
applicable accounting standards are stated. 

it is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our 
audit, on those financial statements and to report our opinion solely to 
you, as a body, in accordance with section 1 4 1  of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume 
responsibi l ity towards or accept l iability to any other person for the 
contents of this report. 

Basis of opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on 
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. it also includes 
an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the 
General Committee in the preparation of the financial statements, and 
of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Chamber's and 
the group's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed. 

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information 
and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us 
with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement In forming 
our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation 
of information in the financial statements. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Chamber and of the group as at 3 1  December 
2005 and of the group's surplus and cash flows for the year then ended 
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance. 

G'l'!�ll 
Signed KPMG 
Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong 
28 March 2006 
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��t&1i:t.4il1:* Consolidated income and expenditure statement 
BJ£2005!f 12fJ31 Slt!flf Wilnflllfi) for the yeor ended 31 December 2005 (Expressed m Hong Kong dollars) 

Note 2005 2004 

�Ht $'000 $'000 

!&A Income 
� �  Members' subscriptions 1 2,226 12,448 
�mJ!' Fees 1 3  42,303 43,175 
U2-&il9:.e. Interest and dividends 1 4  6,229 3,474 
ttli&&m!ftl Publications and promotion 1 5  3,726 4,239 
il!l�t&.A. Commission income 255 246 
filii& .A. Ren tal income 1,384 1,587 
fllt*&ffiiltii!Hfi'f.JB�!Jti¥!&ilti Net realised gains on debt and equity securities 1,257 9 1 5  
!ilB(.I!s�ilti Exchange gain __ 9_1 

__ §Z._�_�Q __ §�._!_?� 
:u: Expenditure 

�_g Staff 1 6  ( 43,623) ( 42,334) 
til�� Office 1 7  (5, 1 57) (5,306) 
lltW!U Services 1 8  (2,070) (2,41 0) 
rti!JtiU:tfiw Depreciation of fixed assets 4(a) (3,630) (3,782) 
ti�&tiH� Subscriptions and donations 1 9  (858) (1 ' 1 13) 
filijS/,�lfl Exchange loss _(ill 

(��L���l (?.5L�i�l 

ti!nHl!� Surplus before taxation 1 1 ,985 1 1 ,230 

�Jilll-ti! Income tax 20 _(lli} ____mm 
1fll!H$ Surplus for the year 2 1 ,  22 1 1  783 11.021 

fllntfii 68 � 80 j'i:(t-Jf«ttJJ�)!;!ffiOjlt{(f,J-1$5} . The notes on pages 68 to 80 form part of these financial statements. 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

f* � � .i � f1U� 
M 2005 if 12 !1 3 1  a ( Wl!ii:f!Jffi) 

imlEJ!il 

- 49:��!1:\ 

- l'tft!!lai;E'd'if 

j1,[l1Jftil 
19:'1l!&!!llliJ5 
�l&M�&ffit-f�J!! 
it�m 
OJJ&@l�� 

!J!.;Ui.!.U�fil� 

J1.1:llltl.il 
B!fil!i.r.t&BJ�HI'Ill 
ffil&ffJI' 

Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce 

Consolidated balance sheet 
os at 31 December 2005 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 

Fixed assets 
- Investment properties 
- Other fixed assets 

Non-current financial assets 

Staff housing loan 

Deferred tax assets 

Current assets 
Accounts with investment manager 
Debtors and prepayments 
Certificate of deposit 
Tax recoverable 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Current liabilities 
Creditors and accruals 
Subscriptions received in advance 

Net assets 

General fund 
Fair value reserve 

Total equity 

Note 
� tt  
4(a) 

6 

8 

1 1  (b) 

9 

10  
1 1  (a) 

1 2  

22 
22 

2005 2004 

$'000 $'000 

17,273 18,396 

__l1l_§_§_ 72 734 

88,439 9 1 , 1 30 

1 63,857 82,509 

2,000 3,000 

9 1 5 953 

3,899 1,705 
3,663 3,046 

5,000 
24 78 

68,897 75,452 

76,483 85,281 

-��-1_..?_�� -�§?.��2� 

--�§·-�-�� . .?.?J.?.�� 
285,030 226,329 

225,837 2 1 4,054 
59,1 93 1 2,275 

285.030 226,329 

Approved and authorised for issue by the General Committee on 28 March 2006. 

David Eldon Chairman 

Lily Chiang Deputy Chairman 

Eden Woon CEO 

Tricor Services Limited Treasurers 

The notes on pages 68 to 80 form part of these financial statements. 
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Balance sheet 
as at 3 I December 2005 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 

Note 
m tt  

Fixed assets 
- Investment properties 

- Other fixed assets 

Interest in a subsidiary 

Non-current financial assets 

Staff housing loan 

Deferred tax assets 

current assets 

Accounts with investment manager 

Debtors and prepayments 

Certificate of deposit 

Tax recoverable 

Cash and cash equivalents 

current liabilities 
Creditors and accruals 

Subscriptions received in advance 

Net assets 

General fund 

Fair value reserve 

Total equity 

4(b) 

5 
6 
8 

1 1  (b) 

9 

1 0  
1 1  (a) 

1 2  

22 
22 

2005 

$'000 

17,273 
_2L_l2Z 

88,430 

1,569 
1 63,857 

2,000 
9 1 5  

3,899 
3,604 

24 
66,577 

.. �§l!� 
284,662 

225,469 
59,1 93 

284,662 

2004 

$'000 

1 8,396 
72,722 

9 1 , 1 1 8  

1 ,452 
82,509 

3,000 
953 

1 ,705 
2,383 
5,000 

78 
73,394 

_}?. .. ?.�� 
226,0 1 9  

2 1 3,744 
12,275 

226,0 1 9  

Approved and authorised for issue b y  the General Committee on 2 8  March 2006. 

oavid Eldon Chairman 

Lily Chiang 

Eden Woon 

Tricor Services Limited 

Deputy Chairman 

CEO 

Treasurers 

The notes on pages 68 to BO form part of these financial statements. 

co nso lidated statement of changes in equity 

for the year ended 3 1  December 2005 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 
Note 2005 

m tt $'ooo 

Total equity at 1 January -��-���?.� 

Net surplus recognised directly in equity: 

Transfer to income and expenditure statement 22 

on realisation of gains on debt and equity securities 

changes in fair value of available-for-sale securities 22 

Surplus on revaluation of investments 22 

Net surplus for the year recognised directly in equity 

Net surplus for the year 

Total e q uity at 3 1  December 

The notes on pages 68 to BD form part of these financial statements. 

(922) 

47,840 

--�-���-1-� 
___ IY?.� 
285,030 

2004 

$'000 

-�9-���?.! 

.... ?��?.� 
1 1 ,021  

� 
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Consolidated cash flow statement 
for the yeor ended 31 December 2005 (Expressed in Hong Kong do/lors) 

Operating activities 
Surplus before taxation 
Adjustments for: 
- Depreciation of fixed assets 
- Net realised gains on debt and equity securities 
- Interest and dividends 

Operating surplus before changes in working capital 

Increase in debtors and prepayments 
Increase in creditors and accruals 
Decrease in subscriptions received in advance 

Cash generated from operations 

Hong Kong profits tax paid 

Net cash generated from operating activities 

Investing activities 
Payment for purchase of fixed assets 
Payment for purchase of securities 

Note 2005 
PM tt $'000 

1 1 ,985 

3,630 
(1 ,257) 

� 
8,129 

(617) 
10,575 

� 
1 7,632 

__illQ} 

(939) 
(40,978) 

Payment for purchase of held-to-maturity debt securities 
Redemption of certificate of deposit 
Proceeds from sale of securities 
(lncrease)/deaease in accounts with investment manager 
Repayment of staff housing loans 
Interest and dividends received 

Net cash used in investing activities 

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 

1 2,808 
(2, 1 94) 

1 ,000 

� 
{��!QI?l 

(6,555) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 1 2  68,897 

The notes on pages 68 to 80 form part of these financ1al statements. 

Notes to the financial statements 
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 

Principal place of business 

2004 
$'000 

1 1 ,230 

3,782 
(9 1 5) 

__l_1_11_1). 
1 0,623 

(636) 
1 3,396 

___(£W 
23,089 

____am 

����-�� 

(784) 
(30, 1 88) 

(2,790) 
5,000 

1 9,385 
597 

3,000 

___1lli 

20,591 

The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce is a company limited by guarantee 
and incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong and has its registered office and principal 
place of business at 22/F United Centre, 95 Queensway, Hong Kong. 

2 Significant accounting policies 

(a) Statement of compliance 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable 
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"), which collecttve term includes 
all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong 
Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (''HKICPA"), accounting principles generally 
accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance. A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the company 
is set out below. 
The HKICPA has issued a number of new and revised HKFRSs that are effective or 
available for early adoption for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2005. Information on the changes in accounting policies resulting from initial 
application of these new and revised HKFRSs for the current and prior accounting 
periods reflected in these financial statements is provided in note 3. 

Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce Annual Report 2005 
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(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements 
The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the 
historical cost basis except that financial instruments classified as available-for·sale 
securities are stated at their fair value as explained in note 2(d). 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the 
results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readtly apparent from other sources. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates. 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised tn the period in which the estimate 
is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and 
future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

(c) Subsidiary 
A subsidiary, in accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is a company 
in which the group, directly or indirectly, holds more than half of the issued share 
capital or controls more than half the voting power or controls the composition of the 
board of directors. Subsidiaries are considered to be controlled if the Chamber has 
the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies, so as 
to obtain benefits from their activities. 
An investment in a controlled subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial 
statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. 
Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised profits arising from intra· 
group transactions are eliminated in full in "prepanng the consoltdated financial 
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated 
in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence 
of impairment. 
In the Chamber's balance sheet, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less 
any impairment losses (see note 2(h)). 

(d) Investments in debt and equity securities 
The group policies for investments in debt and equity securities other than investment 
in a subsidiary are as follows : 
Dated debt securities that the group has the positive ability and intention to hold to 
maturity are classified as held·to·maturity securities. Held·to·maturity securities are 
initially recognised in the balance sheet at fair value plus transaction costs. 
Subsequently, they are stated in the balance sheet at amortised cost less impairment 
losses (see note 2(h)). 
Investments in equity securities that do not have a quoted market price in an active 
market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are recognised in the balance 
sheet at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(h)). 
Other investments in securities are classified as available-for-sale securities and are 
initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs. At each balance sheet date 
the fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being recognised directly 
in equity, except for impairment losses (see note 2(h)). Where these investments 
are interest-bearing, interest calculated using the effective interest method is recognised 
in the income and expenditure statement. When these investments are de recognised, 
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised directly in equity is recognised in 
the income and expenditure statement. 
Investments are recognised or derecognised on the date the group commits to 
purchase or sell the investments or they expire. 
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(e) 

(I) 

(g) 

Investment property 
Investment properties are land and buildings which are owned or held under a 
leasehold interest (see note 2(g)) to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation. 
Investment properties are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(h)). Rental income from investment 
properties is accounted for as described in note 2(o)(v). 
When the group holds a property interest under an operating lease to earn rental 
income and/or for capital appreciation, the interest is classified and accounted for as 
an investment property on a property-by-property basis. Any such property interest 
which has been classified as an investment property is accounted for as 1f it were 
held under a finance lease (see note 2(g)), and the same accounting policies are 
applied to that interest as are applied to other investment properties leased under 
finance leases. 

Fixed assets 
The following fixed assets are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(h)): 
- land held under operating leases and buildings thereon, where the fair values of 

the leasehold interest in the land and buildings cannot be measured separately 
at the inception of the lease; and 

- other fixed assets. 
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of fixed assets, less their estimated 
residual value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives 
as follows: 
- Leasehold land is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the remaining periods 

of the respective leases. 
- Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated over the shorter of the 

unexpired term of lease and their e�timated useful lives, being no more than 40 
years after the date of completion. 

- Furniture, fittings and oHice equipment 1 0% - 20% per annum 
- Motor vehicles 20% per annum 
- Computer systems 331/ JOJo per annum 
Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of a fixed asset are determined 
as the diHerence between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
fixed asset and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal. 

Leased assets 
(i) Classification of assets leased to the group 

Assets that are held by the group under leases which transfer to the group 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as being held 
under finance leases. Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the group are classified as operating leases, with the 
following exception: 
- property held under operating leases that would otherwise meet the definition 

of an investment property is classified as an investment property on a property­
by-property basis and, if classified as an investment property, is accounted for 
as if held under a finance lease (see note 2(e)); and 

- land held for own use under an operating lease, the fair value of which cannot 
be measured separately from the fair value of a building situated thereon at 
the inception of the lease, is accounted for as being held under a finance 
lease. For these purposes, the inception of the lease is the time that the lease 
was first entered into by the group, or taken over from the previous lessee. 

(ii) Assets acquired under finance leases 
Where the group acquires the use of assets under finance leases, the amounts 
representing the fair value of the leased asset are included in fixed assets. 

(iii) Operating lease charges 
Where the group has the use of assets held under operating leases, payments 
made under the leases are charged to the income and expenditure statement in 
equal instalments over the accounting periods covered by the lease term, except 
where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be 
derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives received are recognised in the 
income and expenditure statement as an integral part of the aggregate net lease 
payments made. Contingent rentals are charged to the income and expenditure 
statement in the accounting period in which they are incurred. 
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(h) Impairment of assets 
(i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities and other receivables 

Investments in debt and equity securities and other current and non-current 
receivables that are stated at cost or amortised cost or are classified as available­
for-sale securities are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether 
there is objective evidence of impairment. If any such evidence exists, any 
impairment loss is determined and recognised as follows: 
- For unquoted equity securities and current receivables that are carried at cost, 

the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount 
of the financial asset and the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset where the effect of 
discounting is material. Impairment losses for current receivables are reversed 
if in a subsequent period the amount of the impairment loss decreases. 
Impairment losses for equity securities are not reversed. 

- For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the impairment loss is measured 
as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset's original 
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial 
recognition of these assets). 
If in a subsequent period the amount of an 1mpairment loss decreases and the 
decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed through the income and 
expenditure statement. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in the 
asset's carrying amount exceeding that which would have been determined 
had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. 

- For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative loss that had been recognised 
directly in equity is removed from equity and is recognised in the income and 
expenditure statement. The amount of the cumulative loss that is recognised 
in the tncome and expenditure stat�ment is the difference between the 
acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and current 
fair value, less any impairment loss on that asset previously recognised in the 
income and expenditure statement. 
Impairment losses recognised in the income and expenditure statement in 
respect of available-for-sale equity securities are not reversed through the 
income and expenditure statement. Any subsequent increase in the fair value 
of such assets is recognised directly in equity. 

(ii) Impairment of other assets 
Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at each balance sheet 
date to identify indications that the following assets may be impa ired or, an 
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased: 
- investment properties; 
- fixed assets; and 
- investment in a subsidiary 
If any such indication exists, the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. 
- Calculation of recoverable amount 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its net selling price and 
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of time value of money and the risks specific to 
the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent 
of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the 
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash­
generating unit). 

- Recognition of impairment losses 
An impairment loss is recognised in the income and expenditure statement 
whenever the carrying amount of an asset or the cash-generating unit to which 
it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in 
respect of cash-generating units are allocated to reduce the carrying amount 
of the assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the 
carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value 
less costs to sell, or value in use, if determinable. 

- Reversals of impairment losses 
An impairment loss is reversed 1f there has been a favourable change in the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. 
A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset's carrying amount that 
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in 
prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are credited to the income and 
expenditure statement in the year in which the reversals are recognised. 
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(i) Trade and other receivables 
Trade and other receivables are initially recogmsed at fair value and thereafter stated at 
amortised cost less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts (see note 2(h)), 
except where the receivables are interest free loans without any fixed repayment terms 
or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables would 
be stated at cost less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts (see note 2(h)). 

G) Trade and other payables 
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at 
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case 
they are stated at cost. 

(k) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits 
with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to 
an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity 
at acquisition. 

(I) Employee benefits 
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contributions 
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the 
associated services are rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement is 
deferred and the effect would be material, where amounts are stated at their 
present values. 

(m) Income tax 
Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets 
and liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
recognised in the income and expenditure statement. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment 
to tax payable in respect of previous years. 
Deferred tax assets and liabil ities arise from deductible and taxable temporary 
differences respectively, being the differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets 
also arise from unused tax losses. 
All deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised, 
are recognised. 
The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner 
of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using 
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are not discounted. 
The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each balance sheet date and 
is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed 
to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available. 
Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented 
separately from each other and are not offset. 

(n) Provisions and contingent liabilities 
Provisions are recogmsed for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the group 
has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable 
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made. 
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the 
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, 
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, 
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one 
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability 
of outflow of economic benefits is remote. 
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(o) Income recognition 
Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the group and the 
income and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, income is recognised in 
the income and expenditure statement as follows: 
(i) Members' subscriptions 

Members' subscriptions are recognised on an accruals basis. 
(ii) Fees and commission income 

Fees and commission income are recognised as income when the services 
are rendered. 

(iii) Interest income 
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method. 

(iv) Dividends 
Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the shareholder's 
right to receive payment is established. 
Dividend income from listed investments is recognised when the share price of 
the investment goes ex-dividend. 

(v)Rental income from operating leases 
Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in the income and 
expenditure statement in equal instalments over the accounting period covered 
by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more representative of the 
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives granted 
are recognised in the income and expenditure statement as an integral part of 
the aggregate net lease payments receivable. 

(p) Translation of foreign currencies 
Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign exchange 
rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the 
balance sheet date. Exchange gains and losses are dealt with in  the income and 
expenditure statement 

( q) Related parties 
For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to 
the group, if the group has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise 
significant influence over the party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice 
versa, or where the group and the party are subject to common control or common 
significant influence. Related parties may be individuals (being members of key 
management personnel and/or their close family members) or other entities and include 
entities which are under the significant infiuence of related parties of the group where 
those parties are individuals, and post-employment benefits plans which are for the 
benefit of employees of the group or of any entity that is a related party of the group. 

3 Changes in accounting policies 
The HKICPA has issued a number of new and revised HKFRSs that are effective for 
accounting periods beginning on or after l January 2005. 
The accounting policies of the group after the adoption of these new and revised 
HKFRSs have been summarised in note 2. The following sets out information on the 
significant changes in accounting policies for the current and prior accounting periods 
reflected in these financial statements. 

(a) Financial instruments (HKAS 32, Financial instruments: Disclosure and 
presentation and HKAS 39, Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement) 
With effect from l January 2005, in order to comply with HKAS 32 and HKAS 39, 
the Chamber has changed its accounting policies relating to financial instruments 
to those set out in notes 2(d), (h), (i) and G). Further details of the changes are as 
follows: 
In prior years, investments in securities held for non-trading purposes were stated at 
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in equity, with the exception of dated 
debt securities being held to maturity which were stated in the balance sheet at 
amortised cost less impairment losses. 
With effect from 1 January 2005, and in accordance with HKAS 39, the Chamber 
has elected to designate all previous investments in securities held for non trading 
purposes as available-for-sale securities. Further details of the new policies are set 
out in note 2(d). 
There are no material adjustments arising from the adoption of the new policies for 
held-to-maturity securities, available-for-sale securities and investments in equity 
securities whose fair value cannot be reliably measured. 

73 



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(b) lllll1ilr.J:Eft ('lii*ttiUJ!ii24lHIIlll 

A±llUIJ) 

�RAfflWii*H�M��KrM�A±� 

HJ · �tt2(q)P/f�!ia';JI!lli115JEficiUI 

M • ftMJEfta';J��-���ttB�&MM 

�A±x��"�*m*�� · ����· 

!tJ!tlMfl;l!lH��fffiil!li*J3'1 • 

�$tMm · m�•��me:fiil�*��a';J 
���rJJ<Hi;fl(Uttt 25) • 

(a) i:j* 

B;i{a: : 
20o4 !!' 1 Jl 1 a 

ii!i!! 

2004 !!' 12 J1 31 a 

2005!!' 1 Jl 1 a 

iijift 

2005 !!' 12 Jl 31 8 

JIUttli'i :  
2004 !!' 1 Jl 1 8 

!!'���� 

2004!!' 12 Jl 31 8 

2005 iF 1 Jl 1 8 
!!'��-

2oo5 lf 12 J1 31 a 

flliiiiflli : 
2005 !1' 12 Jl 31 a 

2004 !1' 12 Jl 31 8 

(b) !IJi* 

�Jm : 

2004 !1' 1 J'l H 1  
i;Jifl 

2004 !!' 12 Jl 31 a 

2005!!' 1 Jl 1 a 

i;Jifl 

2005!!' 12 Jl 31 El 
lftttt'i• : 
2004 !!' 1 Jl 1 a  

!!'��-

2004 !!' 1 2  Jl 31 a 

2005 !!' 1 Jl 1 13 
!F��!i 

2oo5 iF 12 Jl 31 a 
flliii;J{a: : 
2oos !F 12 Jl 31 a 

(b) Definition of related parties (HKAS 24, Related party disclosures) 
As a result of the adoption of HKAS 24, Related party disclosures, the definition of 
related parties as disclosed in note 2(q) has been expanded. The clarification of the 
definition of related parties has not resulted in any material changes to the previously 
reported disclosures of related party transactions nor has it had any material effect 
on the disclosures made in the current period. 
The group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective 
for the current accounting period (see note 25). 

4 Fixed assets 

(a) Consolidated 

Cost: 
At I January 2004 
Additions 

At 1 January 2005 
Add1tions 

!lll!lftlt if: A ·n& ;'(ll u '1'11 ai(tJ!l; l!;t 

I:! I iiii}Ji'lfl �� 
ledsehold Fumrture, 
properties fittmgs 

held for dnd office Motor Computer Investment 

own use equipment vehicle system Sub· total propertres Total 

$'000 S'OOO $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

84,931 1 6,076 503 12 ,214 1 1 3,724 65,083 1 78,807 
-- ---±12 -- ____ill _____]M -- _____]M 

84,931 16,491 503 12,583 1 14,508 65,083 179,591 
-- ____§Q1 -- _____ll2. _____lli -- _____lli 

At 3 I December 2005 -�-�!�-�-� _g?_�-� 

Accumulated depreciation: 
At I January2004 13,550 13,540 3 1 1  1 1 ,7 14  39, 1 1 5  45,564 84,679 
Charge for the year ___1iZ2 ___§]] ___.lQl _ill 2.659 __!.l1d � 

At 3 1  December 2004 --�?,Q?.!! --��}.!_� ·----�!-� --�?,_1_!.� -�JJ?� --�?,?.?2 --�?/\.!?.� 

At I January 2005 
Charge for the year 

1 5,029 14,217 4 1 2  12, 1 16  4 1 ,774 46,687 88,461 
___1iZ2 � __ 9_1 ____lQ6 2.507 __1ill 3,630 

At 3 1  December 2005 --��?,.?.,g� --��!��� _____ .?.,g� --�?,�!-� -��1�?-� -�?,�!2 _ _!!?,Q�-� 
Net book value: 
At 3 1  December 2005 68.423 2 443 - 300 7 1.166 1 7,273 88,439 

At 31 December 2004 69.902 2,274 91 467 72,734 1 8,396 9 1,130 

(b) The Chamber 

Cost: 
At 1 January 2004 
Additions 

At 1 January 2005 
Additions 

84,931 15,716 503 12,214 1 1 3,364 65,083 1 78,447 
__ - ---±12 -- ___ill _]]Q -- _]]Q 

84,931 16, 1 3 1  503 12,569 1 1 4,134 65,083 1 79,217 
-- ___ill!l -- __ 1 3_1 � -- � 

At 3 1  December 2005 _?_�!�-�-! _!_�!�-�-� _____ ?.Q.� _g?_g_� �!-�!9.�� .1?.�!9.?� 1_§_�!!.�-� 
Accumulated depreciation: 
At 1 January 2004 1 3,550 13,196 3 1 1  1 1 ,714 38,771 45,564 84,335 
Charge for the year ___11Z2 ___§§l __ 1 0_1 � _1Ml __1ill 3 764 

At 3 1  December 2004 --�?,Q�-� --��'�?-� ..... �!-� .• �?'-1.!_� --��1�!� --�?,�?-� --��,Q�_!! 
At 1 January 2005 
Charge for the year 

1 5,029 13,858 4 1 2  12, 1 1 3  41,412 46,687 88,099 
___1iZ2 _ill __ 9_1 � 2.499 __!.l1d 3,622 

At 3 1  December 2005 .. �?,.?..9.� --��,��� _____ .?.,g� --��'�g� -��'�!-� --�?,�!-� _ _!!g.?_! 
Net book value: 
At 3 1  December 2005 68.423 2,442 - 292 71,157 1 7,273 88.430 

2004 !!' 12 Fl 31 a At 3 1 December 2004 69,902 2,273 91 456 72.722 1 8,396 91.1 1 8  -----------------------------� 
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(c) The leasehold properties held for own use and investment properties are situated in 
Hong Kong and held under long leases, except for a property with a net book value of 
$3 1 5,000 (2004: $304,000) which is held under a medium-term lease. 

(d) The group leases out investment properties under operating leases. The leases typically 
run for an initial period of three years, with an option to renew the lease after that date 
at which time all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent rentals. 
All properties held under operating leases that would otherwise meet the definition 
of investment property are classified as investment property. 
The group's total future lease payments receivable under non-cancellable operating 
leases are as follows: tif.fi f}ft�tr 

Within 1 year 
After 1 year but within 5 years 

5 Interest in a subsidiary 

Unlisted shares, at cost 
Amount due from subsidiary 

Less: Provision 

Consolidated and the Chamber 
2005 2004 
$'000 $'000 
1 ,886 535 

� ____ill 
3 078 t 2 1 1  

��tr 
The Chamber 

2005 2004 
$'000 $'000 

1 0  1 0  
_____2jjJ_ � 

5,551 5,434 
� � 

1 569 1 452 

The wholly owned subsidiary is Chamber Services Limited ("CSL"), incorporated in 
Hong Kong, whose principal activity during the year was the provision of business 
related services. The Chamber has issued a letter of support which was in force 
during the year for an unspecified amount to provide financial assistance as is necessary 
to maintain CSL as a going concern. 

6 Non-current financial assets 

Held-to-maturity debt securities 
- Listed in Hong Kong 

Available-for-sale debt and equity securities: 
- Shares in Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited 

("Tradelink") * 

- Debt and equity securities managed by 
investment manager (see note 7) 

Certificate of deposit - unlisted 

Market value of listed securities 

f:.'t� P.t!.i1Ijtf 
Consolidated and the Chamber 

2005 2004 
$'000 $'000 

2,794 2,791 

47,000 5,875 

1 09,063 73,843 

____2mQ 
1 63,857 82,509 

1 58,857 76 634 

* Tradelink was stated in the balance sheet as at 3 1  December 2004 at cost. Tradelink 
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 28 October 2005 from 
which time its market value became ascertainable and it was stated at fair value. 

7 Debt and equity securities managed by investment manager tf.fif}.'Sf.fif!i 

Conso!tdated and the Chamber 
2005 2004 

Market value: $'000 $'000 
Listed equity securities 
- in Hong Kong 
- outside Hong Kong 

Unlisted investments 
- in Hong Kong 
- outside Hong Kong 

1 7,492 
� 

23, 1 7 8  

47,551 
38,334 

109,063 
Unlisted investments comprise bonds and other marketable instruments. 

13,565 
20,1 80 
33,745 

36,225 
3,873 

73,843 
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a •ttm111Ut 
� 2oos 'f 12 !'! 31 8 fi!!JIIIW:fl.miiJU.J: 
rt.Jf���r = 

:<$� : 2,000.0007t(2004 'f : 3,000,0007t) 

ftJ.e. : 2005'¥7 !'!31 SiM�-� · it�H!.S'Io 
fi�-R��� - m����W@� - �� 
;�JI�IiiOU.l: · l;J,�)'c:if�'ll · 

9 1UU1li�J'l 
sm•att•M�rt.J•••� · ���• · 

l;J,&�mm•rt.Jmfi�a�B��· · �� 
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tt•M� 

�atl!�rut.e. 

:l!i:'fllllf�f!Ii!J{J!JUl 
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OJ'l&@l!!\'Wltli.Jl! 

(bl e.liJ!IllllHJ!ll!Jf� : 
lif.�i'H!illi1t 

lif.���ftm���Rmll!��rt.Jm�&� 

��ltJ : 

2004 :'<!' 1 fl 1  8 
-tE��l&:it.lHHilit. 
2004 'f 1 2  !'! 31 8 

2005 iF 1 fl 1 s 
1ft;.'t.�J&:it•JHH!ll'#. 

2005 :'<!' 12 fl 31 8 

(c) *A.IIIIllll!{J!lJijlf� 
l!HU!tt 2(m)f1�1�1Htam · !f>ll*:fi 
ll'!-llll"''R�Ill�2.296.0007t (2004lf : 

2.353.0007t)J.ittltlil:.flfil511&�i!!l!tli.1Ji 

��A.M · ���**1-�0J'�fil!�m� 

����lll�m�� - •�•"•��� · 
fiBUl!11!�!Arl>li!<lU! • 

8 Staff housing loan 
The terms of the secured staff housing loan as a t3 1  December 2005 are as follows: 

Principal Interest 
$2,000,000 (2004: $3,000,000) interest free until 3 1  July 2005 and 

5% per annum thereafter 

The housing loan is repayable upon the staff member's resignation or retirement or 
on the sale of the property, whichever occurs earlier. 

9 Accounts with investment manager 
These comprise cash balances in interest-bearing current accounts and fixed deposits 
together with accrued interest and dividend receivable on marketable securities, 
managed by the investment manager as follows: l$t&!!iff• 

Current accounts 
Accrued dividends receivable 

1 0 Certificate of deposit 

Certificate of deposit - unlisted 

1 1  Income tax in the balance shee� 

(a) Current taxation in the balance sheet represents: 

Prov1sion for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year 
Provisional Profits Tax paid 
Current tax recoverable 

(b) Deferred tax assets recognised: 
Consolidated and the Chamber 

Consoltdoted and the Chamber 

2005 2004 
$'000 $'000 
3,870 1,687 

__ 2_9 __ 1_8 
3,899 1 705 

j.f.f;Ji.!!ifii� 
Consolidated and the Chamber 

2005 2004 
$'000 $'000 

5,000 

!f.fi&ll�­
Consoltdated and the Chamber 

2005 2004 
$'000 $'000 

155 1 7 1  

_()_]_ill __(llil 
(24) (78) 

The components of deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidated balance sheet 
and the movements during the year are as follows: :J'hNfJtmlhlilfJ/ffiJJt/M 

Depreciation allowances less than 

Deferred tax arising from: 

At 1 January 2004 
Charged to consolidated income and expenditure statement 
At 3 1 December 2004 

At 1 January 2005 
Charged to consolidated income and expenditure statement 
At 3 1  December 2005 

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised 

related depreciation 

$'000 

953 
_____ruu 

9 1 5  

In accordance with the accounting policy set out i n  note 2(m), the group has not 
recognised deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of a subsidiary of 
$2,296,000 (2004: $2,353,000) as it is not probable that future taxable profits against 
which the losses can be utilised will be available. The tax losses do not expire under 
current tax legislation. 
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12 !Jlit&JJlitWlll� 1 2  Cash and cash equivalents tj.€; �iit 
Consolidated The Chamber 

2005 2004 2005 2004 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

t'l.nti-:O: Bank deposits 35,407 3 1 ,971 35,407 3 1 ,97 1 
!Rfil!l-¥'Jl!lU: Cash at bank and in hand 33,490 43,48 1 __}lJ]Q 41,423 
!li3'i&lU:WIItf>l Cash and cash equivalents 68,897 75,452 66,577 73,394 

= 

13  iii!Jt 1 3  Fees 2005 2004 
$'000 $'000 

iH11ltll'i &lUH!I!VIl Certificate and GSP fees ---���?g� _}����� 
���n�����ffl · SM���M · EDI fees, including trade declaration and 50,139 53,102 

!>lil:!.llo filil!tll 0 11  textile quota licence fees 
@1/J:fl:"hli!i Reimbursement to Tradelink (34,757) (37,634) 
@1/l:�;l!�Jij Reimbursement to Hong Kong Government ( 1 ,649) ( 1 ,  176) 

13,733 ---��l�� !{ftP. Others 
--------66 

44 
� 

42,303 43,1 75 

14 f!J.@.&I!Ht 14  Interest and dividends 2005 2004 
$'000 $'000 

lE J!lliH.I: &� 1'1 l'HH'l.e. Interest on time deposits and staff loans 1 , 189 231 
f!J.!!.&I!U!. Interest and dividends 
- J:m!9:n - listed investments 7 1 6  446 
- �FJ:m!�it - unlisted investments 4,324 2,797 

6,229 3 474 

15  IIHi&Jlfl( 1 5  Publications and promotion 2005 2004 
$'000 $'000 

!&:A Income from 
- tlll\l - publications 1 ,070 1 , 1 14  
- �J/iij�ffl - sundry services 8,987 8,873 
- lll!!11t - seminars 2,579 2,366 

---���?�� __ g._�-?� 
:Rtt: Expenditure on 
- tllrtii - publications 1,296 1,077 
- ti'£&iUJ!Ul - trade and programme promotion 7,055 6,562 
- Rl\S & �jtl!lla; - advertising and public relations 140 99 
- lili&<J1t - seminars 4 19  376 

----���-!2 ----��u� 
�!&.A Net income 3,726 4,239 

16 CUl 1 6  Staff 2005 2004 
$'000 $'000 

if.i: · !f-!HU&i*� Salaries, bonus and allowances 37,706 36,792 
an�•m�H�&��tt�maH� Contribution to staff retirement benefit scheme and 3,441 3,320 

{!!;� mandatory provident fund scheme 

lliHH1Hiffl a & fl'/IQ !l' Ill Staff quarters rental and related expenses 1,273 1,232 

BW�IIl Medical expenses 467 520 
lllWnU�Jtl Passage and leave allowances 30 28 

filt/ll&iB� Training and recruiting 459 342 
�Jfi Sundries 247 100 

43,623 42,334 

�iji.=.OOli 77 
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17  �·- 1 7  Office 2005 2004 
$'000 $'000 

lU:lil.l�� Rent and rates 2,465 2,563 
l;t)f Light and power 327 3 1 0  
?;tli;Jf Telephone 1 4 9  202 

Elll!l&jtA Printing and stationery 934 975 
liHI: Postage 45 1 429 
t\\W · f.!l�liUU! Maintenance, repairs and cleaning 384 334 
Jl}� Books and newspapers 48 50 
ll>ltP:�.ii!i� Local travelling 71  76 

i'U!IlU: Motor car expenses 1 1 3 84 
i!Jl!lffl� Sundry expenses 2 1 5  283 

5 1 57 5.306 

1 8  §IJ*Jt 1 8  Services 2005 2004 
$'000 $'000 

�IHI! Audit fees 235 320 
i'lllil! !l:  Treasurers' fees 240 460 
�id!I!&W�!I' Legal and professional fees 58 43 
1i!&>l!Jll� Computing fees 665 765 
t£i'mli�&Jt Investment manager's fees 4 1 4  3 1 6  
!*laM Insurance 458 506 

2,070 2,410 

19  tJt&U!Jl 1 9  Subscriptions and donations 2005 2004 
$'000 $'000 

?l£!l!!lf;tJI' Trade organisations' subscriptions 170 1 1 3  
wm Donations 107 1 ,000 
JJ§ �WJ Sponsorship 5 8 1  

858 1 1 1 3  

2004 lf:lf..J 1 ,000,000 7tl!U:< · J}fi!iHfii! The donation of $1 ,000,000 in 2004 was to the Hong Kong Red Cross for the tsunami 
n+�•f'Fmnil4!1lillUill! • appeal. 

20 �� !& �/iUU! P! �lfl!Hli 20 Income tax in the consolidated income and expenditure statement 

(a) Sil�l&��lUtP!�!JigJ! : (a) Taxation in the consolidated income and expenditure statement represents: 
2005 2004 

Ul�!Ji-'lii�H3-Ilt Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax $'000 $'000 

lfiUJUl Provision for the year 1 5 5  1 7 1  
l§tt lfllli!AVf lE Under provision in respect of prior years 9 

� 1 7 1  
lllUI.!Ji Deferred tax 

�'!B!�If..JA.Jilllil.IDI9l Origination and reversal of temporary differences 38 38 
202 209 

��-�*lfll�&t��--�� 1 7.5% 

&$ (2004 lf: : 17.5%) &tlf 2005lf:llfi! The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2005 is calculated at 1 7 .5% 
*'ll!HliliiM • (2004: 1 7.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year. 

(b) ���m�¥��-llt!Ji�lli &t��• : (b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting surplus at applicable tax rates: 
2005 2004 
$'000 $'000 

�Jil@.tt. Surplus before tax 1 1  985 1 1,230 

J;.( 17.5% tiilllttfflf..Jt�ii'Jil!t<;gflf!t Notional tax on surplus before tax, calculated at 17.5% 2,097 1,966 
1'iiJlO�Jtilllf..lfiH!t�* Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 9,206 9,149 
��M�l&Aif..J�i!t!a Tax effect of non-taxable income ( 1 1 ,  1 00) (1 0,905) 
2.ibillfJ!Jll�llllf..Jiiti!t!5* Tax effect of tax losses utilised (1 0) ( 1 )  
�ttlfllt!IIIHIE Under provision in prior years 9 
Jt�i!tJl!'li tll Actual tax expense 202 209 

21 lfilfl!�· 2 1  Surplus for the year 
�lf:m:� �@�c����M�m�A.� The surplus for the year includes a surplus of  $ 1 1 ,725,000 (2004: $ 1 1 ,01 7,000) 
lf..) -!fi 1 1 ,725,000 7t�� (2004 £f .  which has been dealt with in  the financial statements of the Chamber. 
1 1 ,017 .ooo lt) . 
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22 �lill¥i::&�¥-flllli.flU< 22 General fund and fair value reserve 

�fi Consolidated lhU� ,-:nmw�; llli!!S 
General Fair value Total 

fund reserve equity 
$'000 $'000 $'000 

2004 "!' 1 fl 1 B At 1 January 2004 203,033 6,648 209,681 
Hill� Surplus for the year 1 1 ,021  1 1 ,021 
"f-!!!i1Hfifi'lf.U� Revaluation surplus tor the year 5,627 � 
2004 11' 1 2 fl 31 B At 3 1 December 2004 2 1 4,054 1 2,275 226,329 

2005ff 1 fl 1  8 At 1 January 2005 2 1 4,054 1 2,275 226,329 
"�tt�x�n��mm&������� Transfer to income and expenditure (922) (922) 
!.U31 statement on realisation of gains on 

debt and equity securitres 
i!'J!!l!ftt. Surplus for the year 1 1 ,783 1 1 ,783 
0Jtt1!1�� : L}'J'ilf1Ii�f!.IJ Available-for-sale securities: changes 47,840 47,840 

in fair value 

2005 "!' 12 fl 31 8 At 3 1  December 2005 225,837 59,1 93 285,030 

�ifrit The Chamber 

2004 if 1 fl 1 8 At 1 January 2004 202,727 6,648 209,375 
"f-!!!l!ftt. Surplus for the year 1 1 , 0 17  1 1 ,0 1 7  
"F-!!!!H!TiMUftt. Revaluation surplus for the year � 5,627 

2004 "!' 12 fl 31 B At 3 1  December 2004 2 1 3  744 12,275 226,0 1 9  

2005 "!' 1 fl 1  B At 1 January 2005 2 1 3,744 12,275 226,01 9  
nmtt�x�n��mm&m������ Transfer to income and expenditure (922) (922) 
!.l!ilm statement on realisation of gains on 

debt and equity securities 
Htl!� Surplus for the year 1 1 ,725 1 1 ,725 
iiJtt1!1�� : i;'l'ilfl!HNJJ Available-for-sale securitres: changes 47,840 47,840 

in fair value 

2005 "!' 12 fl 31 8 At 3 1 December 2005 225.469 59,193 284,662 

23 i::l!IJl 23 Financial instruments 
U.llltt:-A!l�f*iflllj<P�iiUI!illl · i.MH'i Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate arises in the normal course of the group's 
*&�••• · ••111•m���•••a business. These risks are limited by the group's financial management policies and 
1!1&\lLH,\�:IM!r!!l/!\. • practices described below. 

(a) m;uu� (a) Credit risk 
mlll�w�mll••w}j · ffi���l�m The group's maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount 
.t�<J7q�*�n.?€�1!!liliiiH ·  of each financial asset in the balance sheet. 

(b) iiltiJJ'iti::ll� (b) Liquidity risk 
•���a•�•�����• § AA&fflM�iilt The group's policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements 
�n*�* · ���·��������i�® to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate lines of funding 
8gN�·RM!!!��MmWJ�···�· to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. 
lll:tl'*ll;;llt ·  

(c) Interest rate risk 
(c) fiJ�Jlll The following table indicates the effective interest rates of income-earning financial 

�il<�ff-���A���·��ii'� S &ill assets at the balance sheet date and the period in which they reprice: 
��JllWJJ7q�:rf�:flJ' ' 

!*� : Consolidated: 2QQS 20Q4 
J'l:fll1l'lill 1 if>W� l'l:fi�l:fll$ 1 !J'etJ:,\� 
Effective Effective 
interest One year interest One year 

.BM s 8mE����M·E��SM Repricing dates for assets which rate or less rate or less 
reprice before maturity % $'000 % $'000 

l.U&ij!�"fillf>'J Cash and cash equivalents 2.65% 68,897 0. 1 9% 75,452 
�:tl'k'fl!l!!l.P Accounts with investment manager 4.06% 3,899 1 . 12% I 705 

79 



80 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(c) f•J¥11.11! (!I) 

lUJ•JimiHI-

1Htll! 

M'�j•JMiH1 

M.Am 

24 •• 

(a) ll\!!H*fi�<P · �2005lf. 1 2 Jl 31 8 {1};i<li 

#Urt.Ji'l:$i!ltt.l�l' · 

(b) 1f2005 � 1 2 Jl 31 8 · IIH'J1'0Jltt1irt.J�ll 
f!llirt.J;f<�l'f;fHI!Jt!!lilBH : 

-:!fpqWj� 

-:!fll11!Hi:�pq!\ll)ili 

!!�-����f!IKn�m����i'i�� · 

m•Mm�=�=lf. · lm�OJ���� · ffi  

:tlf!lit�J§l .l1JH!M.X:Af!lti • 

25 elli!I$1!!Jittizoos � 12 Fl 31 sJt•rt� 

�m•���•n · �•�••a����• 
�-*M&�II-� B · ������� 
��eM.rt.Jf�•n · M•M&a��n 
�2005 :!f 1 2 Jl 31 8 J.!:�&tlm{l};f<':t!a . $. 
*ltl&fi�;f<�l*!il • 
�� - l'�•Maanor�•*�����• 

M&fiililll:A::Jil!!l : 

l!i�ltll'Ui'i!r�RII�7� - Jt�IA : 11tH 
(i!2007:!f1 Jl 1 13  .XZ 1Jtllll¥tirt.JftH!Iil':t!a) 

�nw�•�•�•Jl!; 1 !l!t - M&��z� 

� ' i'i*!!tR 

(ft2007lf 1 Jl 1 !3  ro1.ZIJtllllMlrt.J1Ut!tll':t!a) 

��� · e�2ooslf.12Jl 1 B':t��<2oos:!f 

llf�11 iil(�al)��>lii!Jm!il�110]�2006lf 

1 Jl 1 13��-�M����Jtl&fi� · 

11iii�WMW!\IIA!il�W8D · �·M&� 

•�•m*��� · �J§l��� · 110J�� 

Am��·O · ��M&MH�'f'-�110] 

�-���"m&Mm:A�*•� · 

(c) Interest rate risk (continued) 
JtiiJ;l*'l$ !.Ut 1 �oHH 2-S:!f 

Effective 
interest One year 2·5 

Maturity dates for assets which rate Total or less years 
do not reprice before maturity % $'000 $'000 $'000 

Held-to maturity securities 3.38% 2,794 2,794 
Certificate of deposit 3.45% 5,000 __j.QQQ 

7 794 7 794 

Jl'f(,I*'J$ .!Ut 1 �oHH 2-5 � 

Effective 
interest One year 2-5 

Maturity dates for assets which rate Total or less years 
do not reprice before maturity % $'000 $'000 $'000 

Held-to maturity securities 3.38% 2,791 2,791 
Certificate of deposit 3.05% ___2,QQQ ___2,QQQ 

7 791  5,000 2 791 

24 Commitments 

(a) Capital commitments outstanding at 3 1  December 2005 not provided for in the 
financial statements were as follows: 

Contracted for 

2005 
$'000 
1.200 

2004 
$'000 

(b) At 3 1  December 2005, the total future minimum lease payments under non­
cancellable operating leases in respect of properties are payable as follows: 

�t!tD.J!fffi. 

25 

Within 1 year 

Consolidated and the Chomber 
2005 2004 
$'000 $'000 
1 , 1 1 8 1 , 3 1 7  

After 1 year but within 5 years 655 1 1 8 
1 773 1 435 

The Chamber leases a number of properties under operating leases. The leases 
typically run for an initial period of two to three years, with an option to renew the 
lease when all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent rentals. 

Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but 
not yet effective for the annual accounting year ended 31 December 2005 
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number 
of amendments, new standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for 
the accounting period ending 31 December 2005 and which have not been adopted 
in these financial statements. 
Of these developments, the following relate to matters that may be relevant to the 
company's operations and financial statements: Effective for accounting 

HKFRS 7 
Amendment to HKAS 1 

periods beginning on or after 

Financial instruments: disclosures 
Presentation of financial statements: 

capital disclosures 

1 January 2007 
1 January 2007 

In addition, the Hong Kong Companies (Amendment) Ordinance 2005 came into 
effect on 1 December 2005 and would be first applicable to the company's financial 
statements for the period beginning 1 January 2006. 
The company is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these 
amendments, new standards and new interpretations is expected to be in the period 
of imtial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to 
have a significant impact on the company's results of operations and financial position. 
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